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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
INTRODUCTION

Our name is Rick's Cabaret International, Inc. Wierantly own and/or operate a total of thirteen ladhightclubs that offer live adt
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Soup clubs operate under the name "Rick's Cabatietee operate under the nan@lub
Onyx”, upscale venues that welcome all customers but eapacially to urban professionals, businessmerpesfdssional athletes; and fou
the clubs operate under the name "XTC". Our nigifiel are in Houston, Austin and San Antonio, Tex@karlotte, North Carolin
Minneapolis, Minnesota; and New York, New York.Ntay 2006, we combined our sports bar under the rafrfidummers”and XTC at sar
location and converted them into “Rick’s Sports @rali’. We also own and operate premiere adult &itenent Internet websites.

Our online entertainment sites axgxPassword.com, CouplesTouch.com, and Naughty@ids. The site xxxPassword.com features i
content licensed through Voice Media, Inc. Couptagh.com is a personals site for those in the swingfestyle. Naughtybids.com is o
online adult auction site. It contains consurimétiated auctions for items such as adult videggarel, photo sets, adult paraphernalia and
erotica. There are typically approximately 10,0@fve auctions at this site at any given time. WWarge the seller a fee for each succe
auction. All of our sites use proprietary softwatatforms written by us to deliver the best expatcieto the user without being constraine:
off-the-shelf software solutions.

Our website address is www.ricks.coe make available free of charge our Annual Repor-orm 10-KSB, Quarterly Reports on Form
QSB, Current Reports on Formk8-and all amendments to those reports as sooeas®mably practicable after such material is edeatally
filed with the SEC under Securities Exchange Acl®84, as amended. Information contained in thesitelshall not be construed as pal
this Form 10-KSB.

References to “us” or “the Company” include our #@6wned, 85%-owned and 51%-owned consolidated giapss.
BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--NIGHTCLUBS

Prior to the opening of the first Rick's Cabaret1883 in Houston, Texas, the topless nightclub rmss was characterized by st
establishments generally managed by their owneer&@jng policies of these establishments were dfgnthe sites were generally dimly
standards for performers' personal appearance arsdality were not maintained and it was custonfaryperformers to alternate betw:
dancing and waiting tables. The quantity and gyalitbar service was low and food was not frequeotfered. Music was usually "hard" rc
and roll, played at a loud level by a disc jockeggually, only cash was accepted. Many businessileniicomfortable in such environme
Recognizing a void in the market for a firdss adult nightclub, we designed Rick's Cabartdrget the more affluent customer by providi
unique quality entertainment environment. The folltg summarizes our areas of operation that distgigus:

10-
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Female Entertainment Our policy is to maintain high standards for bgtarsonal appearance and personality for the te
entertainers and waitresses. Of equal importaneepisrformer's ability to present herself attraadiivand to talk with customers. \
prefer that the performers we hire be experiencatters. We make a determination as to whether tecylar applicant is suitak
based on such factors of appearance, attitudes,deesnmunication skills and demeanor. At all clubscept for our Minnesa
location, the entertainers are independent comtrs.ctVe do not schedule their work hours.

Management We often recruit staff from inside the toplesdustry, as well as from large restaurant and chdirgs, in the belief th
management with experience in the sector adds rt@loility to grow and attract quality entertaineidanagement with experience
able to train new recruits from outside the industr

Compliance Policies/EmployeesWe have a policy of ensuring that our businessaisied on in conformity with local, state ¢
federal laws. In particular, we have a "no toleeingolicy as to illegal drug use in or around thempises. Posters placed througl
the nightclubs reinforce this policy, as do perodhannounced searches of the entertainers' lodketsrtainers and waitresses \
arrive for work are not allowed to leave the prezsisvithout the permission of management. If anr&iteer does leave the premi:
she is not allowed to return to work until the nday. We continually monitor the behavior of erderérs, waitresses and custome
ensure that proper standards of behavior are obderv

Compliance Policies/Credit CardsWe review all credit card charges made by outauers. We have in place a formal po
requiring that all credit card charges must be aygu, in writing, by management before any chaayesaccepted. Managemer
trained to review credit card charges to ensurettieaonly charges approved for payment are fod faoink and entertainment.

Food and Drink. We believe that a key to the success of our dratult nightclubs is a quality, firstass bar and restaur
operation to compliment our adult entertainment. &fgloy service managers who recruit and traingasibnal waitstaff and ens
that each customer receives prompt and courteawicee We employ chefs with restaurant experier@ar bar managers orc
inventory and schedule bar staff. We believe thatdperation of a first class restaurant is a reggscomponent to the operation
premiere adult cabaret, as is the provision of jemwine, liquor and beer in order to ensure thatd¢ustomer perceives and obt
good value. Our restaurant operations provide legsinunch buffets and full lunch and dinner menwvise with hot and col
appetizers, salads, seafood, steak, and lobstezxtemsive selection of quality wines is available.
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Controls. Operational and accounting controls are essetitie successful operation of a cash intensightoiub and bar busine
We have designed and implemented internal procedamd controls designed to ensure the integritguofoperational and account
records. Wherever practicable, we separate managgraesonnel from all cash handling so that manageiis isolated from and dc
not handle any cash. We use a combination of at¢twuand physical inventory control mechanisms taintain a high level «
integrity in our accounting practices. Informati@echnology plays a significant role in capturingl@malyzing a variety of informati
to provide management with the information necgsgaefficiently manage and control the nightcleposits of cash and credit ¢
receipts are reconciled each day to a daily incoapert. In addition, we review on a daily basisg@sh and credit card summa
which tie together all cash and credit card tratisas occurring at the front door, the bars in the and the cashier station, (ii
summary of the daily bartenders' chexk-reports, and (iii) a daily cash requirementalysis which reconciles the previous day's
on hand to the requirements for the next day'saijmers. These daily computer reports alert managerk any variances fro
expected financial results based on historical sorsfe conduct a monthly independent overview of fimancial condition an
operating results.

Atmosphere We maintain a high design standard in our faediand decor. The furniture and furnishings inrtghtclubs create tl
feeling of an upscale restaurant. The sound sygt@vides quality sound at levels at which convéosat can still take place. T
environment is carefully monitored for music selatt entertainer and waitress appearance and adices of customer service o
continuous basis.

VIP Room. In keeping with our emphasis on serving the wguet of the businessmen's market, some of our didigdnclude a VI
room, which is open to individuals who purchase terships. A VIP room provides a higher level ofvggs and luxury.

Advertising and Promotion Our consumer marketing strategy is to positiookRi Cabarets as premiere entertainment facilitia!
provide exceptional topless entertainment in a ft,discreet, environment. We use a variety ohlyigargeted methods to reach
customers: hotel publications, local radio, cablewision, newspapers, billboards, tasb reader boards, and the Internet, as wel
variety of promotional campaigns. These campaigissie that the Rick's Cabaret name is kept bef@gublic.
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Rick's Cabaret has received a significant amoumhedia exposure over the years in national magazneh as Playboy, Penthol
Glamour Magazine, The Ladies Home Journal, Time &age, Time Out New York, and Texas Monthly MagaziSegments abc
Rick's have aired on national and local televisowograms such as “20/20”Extra" and "Inside Edition”, and we have provi
entertainers for Pay-Pé&fiew features as well. Business stories about Ri€ldbaret have appeared in The Wall Street Joufhs
New York Times, The New York Post, Los Angeles Témidouston Business Journal, and numerous othemagpublications.

NIGHTCLUB LOCATIONS

We currently operate clubs under the name “Ricldbatet’in Houston, San Antonio, and Austin, Texas, Minr@iap Minnesota, and Ne
York, New York. We also operate nightclubs in Haums Galleria District and San Antonio, Texas, &ftarlotte, North Carolina, aCtub
Onyx”, upscale venues that welcome all customers but cadpecially to urban professionals, businessmen @motessional athlete
Additionally, we own four nightclubs in San Antoniaustin, and Houston, Texas that operate undenéime XTC. We also own a controll
interest in and operate a sports cabaret calledk*RiSports CabaretWe sold our New Orleans nightclub in March 1999, ibeontinues t
use the name “Rick’s Cabaret” under a licensingaent.

RECENT NIGHTCLUB TRANSACTIONS

1. On January 18, 2005, our wholly-owned subsidiai@| Bntertainment (New York), Inc. (“RCI New York"® New York corporatiol
completed the acquisition of Peregrine Enterprises, (“Peregrine”),a New York corporation, pursuant to which RCI Newrk
agreed to purchase all of the shares of commotk stioeeregrine. Peregrine owned and operated ab extertainment cabaret loca
in midtown Manhattan. The club is located nearEhgpire State Building and Madison Square Garded,igitess than 10 blocks frc
Times Square.

Under the terms of the Stock Purchase Agreemeafptinchase price of the transaction was $7,625 fi@able $2,500,000 in cast
closing and $5,125,000 payable in a promissory betxing simple interest at the rate of 4.0% pewen The Promissory Note
payable commencing 120 days after Closing as fallof@) the payment of $58,333.33 per month for tyéour (24) consecutiy
months; (b) the payment of $63,333.33 for twefatyr (24) consecutive months; (c) the payment 08,883.33 for twelve (1.
consecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymertiefémaining balance to be paid on the sfiit-(61st) month. $2,000,000 of
principal amount of the Promissory Note is conbéetinto shares of our restricted common stockriaep ranging from $4.00 to $7.
per share. The parties also entered a Stock Plkegiggement and Security Agreement to secure the Bsomy Note.
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Upon closing of the transaction, the owners of §ene entered into a fivgear covenant not to compete with Peregrine, RGY
York or the Company. After an extensive renovatiwe, opened the club in September 2005 as "Rickmaf@d'. It occupies 10,0
square feet on three levels, with an additionad@ gquare feet available for office space.

The results of operations of the club are incluitiealur consolidated statement of operations fronuday 18, 2005.

Through October 4, 2006, the holder of the promissmte converted $2,000,000 of principal from théated promissory note ir
360,000 shares of the Company’s common stock.

2. On March 31, 2005, we entered an Stock Purchaseefgent with MBG Acquisition, LLC, a Delaware lindtéiability company t
sell all of the issued and outstanding shares of R@ertainment (Houston), Inc., our wholly owneagbsidiary, which owned al
operated an adult entertainment cabaret known ak’RCabaret -South located at 15301 Gulf Freeway, Houston, TeXas
Agreement provided for a sales price of $550,00ticiwwas paid in cash upon closing. W e recordgdia of $291,987.

The club’ business was accounted for as discontinued émesatnder accounting principles generally acceptete United States
America and therefore, the club’s results of operst and cash flows have been removed from the @agrip consolidated results
continuing operations and cash flows for all pesipdesented in this document.

3. On June 10, 2005, our wholly owned subsidiary, E@lertainment (North Carolina), Inc. (“RCI North 1©hna”), a North Carolin
corporation entered into a Purchase Agreement Wigh Shelf Entertainment LLC (“Top Shelf’a North Carolina limited liabilit
company and Tony Hege (“Hege”), the holder of Tdel8s membership interests, to purchase all of theetssand outstandil
membership interests of Top Shelf which owned &teigh known as “The Manhattan Clulmtated in Charlotte, North Carolina. F
North Carolina managed the Club under the n“Rick’s Cabaret” since February 2005.

The Purchase Agreement provides for a purchase pfi$1,000,000 which is payable with 180,000 shafeour common stock (t
“Shares”) valued at $3.75 per shdréhe “Value of the Shares”) and a seven year pramysaote (the “Note”)in the amount ¢
$325,000 bearing interest at the rate of 7% peuremiThe Note is payable with an initial payment devember 1, 2005, of inter
only for the period of time from the date of Claginntil October 31, 2005, plus a principal reductjpayment in the amount
$3,009.29. Thereafter, RCI North Carolina will makghtythree (83) successive equal monthly payments coroimgiecember
2005, of principal and interest in the amount gP$%.12 until paid in full. The Note is securedtbg assets of RCI North Carolina.
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Pursuant to the terms of the Note, on or after Ndwer 1, 2005, Hege shall have the right, but netdhligation to have Rick’
purchase from Hege 4,285 Shares per month (the thfipiShares”),calculated at a price per share equal to $3.73 Hetje ha
received a total of $1,000,000 from the sale ofShares less the amount of the Note. At our eledliging any given month, we rr
either buy the Monthly Shares or, if we elect robtly the Monthly Shares from Hege, then Hege stadllithe Monthly Shares in t
open market. Any deficiency between the amount wklege receives from the sale of the Monthly Sharesthe Value of the Sha
shall be paid by us within three (3) days of théedaf sale of the Monthly Shares during that patéic month. Our obligation
purchase the Monthly Shares from Hege shall termmiaad cease at such time as Hege has receivéa aft$1,000,000 from the si
of the Shares, less the amount of the Note. THigatibn was satisfied on May 11, 2006 when allresehad been sold for more tl
$675,000.

The results of operations of the club are inclutedur consolidated statement of operations fromr&ary 1, 2005, when we assur
risk of loss for the club’s operations under a nggamaent agreement.

Subsequent to fiscal year end, on December 14, 26®6onverted this club into “Club Onyx Charlotte”

4, On May 9, 2006, we purchased Joint Ventures, kt.pperator of an adult nightclub in South Housfbexas, formerly known .
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HouBted. The purchase price of $840,000 was paicaish. The club, located i
Houston suburb, has been converted to an XTC Cabare

5. On July 7, 2006, we entered into a stock purchgseement to acquire Texas S&l, Inc., a Texas caitpar, for $125,000, consisti
of $55,000 paid in cash at closing and $70,000fimeayear note payable bearing interest at ach#b per annum. The note was
off in full. Texas S&l, Inc. owned and operated ElExotica in San Antonio. We have converted thishdnto “Club Onyx Sa
Antonio”.

6. On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit Segsj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership intemesin adult entertainment cabi
known as “Centerfoldsfocated at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeAdslitionally, under the terms of the transaction)
subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of itterest in the improved real property upon whdmterfolds is located. The tc
purchase price for the business and real propesty $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreement, we thai owners of the club a
property $600,000 in cash at the time of closind signed promissory notes for the remaining balalmcaddition, certain members
the current ownership structure entered a five-geaenant not to compete with us.
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7. Subsequent to our fiscal year end, on NovembeR@06, we purchased a 51% ownership interest ofndts’'s Gentlemen’ Cluk
LLC, an operator of an adult nightclub in AustirexBs. The club is located at 8110 Springdale Stfaegtin, Texas. The purch
price of $1,500,000 was paid $500,000 cash atrigosnd 125,000 shares of our restricted commork sidee club has been convetr
to a “Rick’s Austin”.As part of the agreement, twelve months after theilg date, the seller has the right, but notahkgation, tc
have us buy the shares at a price of $8.00 peesitaa rate of no more than 5,000 shares per mmtthsuch time as the sel
receives a total of $1,000,000 from the sale ohslares. Alternatively, the seller has the optisell such shares in the open ma
The transaction was the result of arms-length natjohns between the parties.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT ENTERTAINMENT W EB SITES

In 1999, we began adult Internet Web site operatio@ur xxxPassword.com website features adult coritegrised through Voice Media, li
We addedCouplesTouch.com in 2002 as a dating site catddntpose in the swinging lifestyle. We recently ghased CouplesClick.net
competing site of our CouplesTouch.com site, ireottd broaden our membership throughout the Uriiiadies. As part of this transaction,
organized RCI Dating Services, Inc., which operatgsan addition to our internet operations, to aeqGouplesClick.net from ClickMatc
LLC. We transferred our ownership in CouplesTouamado RCI Dating and, as a result of the transactice obtained an 85% interest in |
Dating, with the remaining 15% owned by ClickMatch.

Our Internet traffic is generated through the pasghof traffic from thirdparty adult sites or Internet domain owners andotimrehase of banr
advertisements or "key word" searches from Inteseatch engines. In addition, the bulk of our icafibw comes from search engines on w
we don't pay for preferential listings. There atemerous adult entertainment sites on the Intehratdompete with our sites.

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES--INTERNET ADULT AUCTION WEB SIT ES

Our adult auction site features erotica and otliedtamaterials that are purchased in a &slf- method. We charge the seller a fee for
successful auction. Where previously we operated isdividual auctions sites, now we have combinégsé into one main si
NaughtyBids.com, to maximize our brand name redamniof this site. The site contains new and usedltaoriented consumer initiat
auctions for items such as adult videos, appahaiqsets and adult paraphernalia. NaughtyBidsappsoximately 10,000 items for sale at
given time. NaughtyBids.com offers third party wedsters an opportunity to create residual income fneb surfers through the NaughtyE
Affiliate Program, which pays third party webmaster percentage of every closing auction sale irchwitie buyer originally came from 1
affiliate webmaster's site. There are numerous@usites on the Internet that offer adult produstid erotica.
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TRANSACTION WITH VOICE MEDIA

In May 2002, we purchased 700,000 shares of our@ammon stock from Voice Media, Inc. for an aggtegarice of $918,700 (or $795,2
adjusted for imputed interest) that equals apprakéty $1.32 per share. That purchase price wasabelarket value on the date of
purchase. Voice Media, Inc. presently owns nonewfshares of common stock. These shares are fyebeid as treasury shares. We 1
cancel these shares at a later date. The contrebp®f Voice Media, Inc. is Ron Levi, who was adgtor until June 2002. The terms of
transaction were the result of arfesigth negotiations between Voice Media, Inc. asdWe believe the transaction was favorable tausaw
of the market value of our common stock and thevgayt terms, although no appraisal or fairness opimias done. All management contr
previously signed relating to the management ofassword.com will remain in effect. Pursuant totth@saction, the purchase price we
be paid in four annual installments. We paid of$ tiote in full during fiscal year 2006.

TRANSACTION WITH TAURUS ENTERTAINMENT

On June 12, 2003, we entered into an Asset Purchgieement with Taurus Entertainment Companies, (ffi@urus”), whereby we acquire
all the assets and liabilities of Taurus in excleafag 3,752,008 shares of Taurus out of the 4,@®tAat we owned plus $20,000 in cash.
also executed an Indemnification and TransactianAgreement with Taurus for which we received $2@0,in cash, with $140,000 payabl
closing, $60,000 due on July 15, 2003 and $70,@@0ah August 15, 2003. We have received the $60p@9thent and have restructured
remaining balance originally due August 15, 200&hva note receivable bearing 12% annual intergst @a five year term. The note v
collateralized by 3,000,000 shares of Taurus, noawkn as Bluestar Health, Inc. (“BluestarTaurus is not current in its payment obliga
and we have initiated steps to collect the amownh@. We foreclosed on the collateralized share&ugust 2006. As such, we presently «
the shares and can sell them in the open market.value of the shares currently totals approximya$dl50,000, based on market pric
September 30, 2006. We intend to achieve colldityitdither through repurchase of the shares byeBtar or by selling the shares in the ¢
market or in a private transaction. Legal counselus has been in discussions with legal counseBligestar regarding the existing obligal
of Bluestar to us and the possible resolution if ¢ibligation by the acquisition of the shares lhyeBtar or by another third party. Further, I
counsel has been in discussions with a third paggrding the private sale of the shares. Theseisifons are ongoing. We believe that ful
discussions with these separate parties may riesthie private sale of the shares in an amoungtover the outstanding amount due unde
note receivable.
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COMPETITION

The adult topless club entertainment businessgbljicompetitive with respect to price, service dmchtion. All of our nightclubs compe
with a number of locally owned adult clubs, somevbbse names may have name recognition that ethatlsf Rick's Cabaret or XTC. Wh
there may be restrictions on the location of acalted "sexually oriented business”, there are amidrs to entry into the adult cab:
entertainment market. For example, there are appaigly 50 adult nightclubs located in the Houstmea, all of which are in dire
competition with our Houston cabarets. In MinneépdRick's Cabaret is favorably located downtowd &na short walk from the Metrodo
Stadium and the Target Center. There are two adghttclubs in Minneapolis in direct competition witis. In Charlotte, there are 2 r
competitors. We are centrally located with easyeasdo our location from the airport and the spstaslium. There are approximately 16 &
clubs in Manhattan of which 7 compete with RiclOsly one of those competitors’ is located in MidtowRick’s location is one block from t
Empire State Building and one block from Madisou&g Garden. Amtrak and local commuter trains fsggon stops within one block
Rick’s location at Penn Station and we are locateddjiocks from Times Square. There are 7 adult cinlsustin and 9 in San Antonio tt
are in direct competition with our clubs. Our RiglAustin is located at Springdale in between High®80 and the new [-130 (Austin By-
pass). We anticipate a significant increase irfirafhen the construction on 1-130 is completedr ®ick’s San Antonio is located at3b ir
the northern part of the city.

The names "Rick's" and "Rick's Cabaret", "XTC Cabaand “Club Onyx"are proprietary. We believe that the combinatiorowf existin
brand name recognition and the distinctive entemi@nt environment that we have created will allamacompete effectively in the indus
and within the cities where we operate. Althoughbeéeve that we are well positioned to competeeassfully, there can be no assurance
we will be able to maintain our high level of nareeognition and prestige within the marketplace.

GOVERNMENTAL REGULATIONS

We are subject to various federal, state and liawes affecting our business activities. In partizyin Texas the authority to issue a perrr
sell alcoholic beverages is governed by the TeXashblic Beverage Commission (“TABC"\yhich has the authority, in its discretion, to &
the appropriate permits. We presently hold a MiBsverage Permit and a Late Hour Permit. These Pem@né subject to annual rene\
provided we have complied with all rules and regiates governing the permits. Renewal of a permgubject to protest, which may be m
by a law enforcement agency or by the public. & ¢wvent of a protest, the TABC may hold a hearing/tdch time the views of interesi
parties are expressed. The TABC has the authdtiy such hearing not to issue a renewal of théegted alcoholic beverage permit. Rick's
never been the subject of a protest hearing agdiasenewal of Permits. Minnesota, North Carolaraj New York have similar laws that n
limit the availability of a permit to sell alcoholibeverages or that may provide for suspensiorewocation of a permit to sell alcohc
beverages in certain circumstances. It is our pppcior to expanding into any new market, to takeps to ensure compliance with all licen
and regulatory requirements for the sale of aldoHmverages as well as the sale of food.
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In addition to various regulatory requirements etifeg the sale of alcoholic beverages, in Houssod in many other cities, the location «
topless cabaret is subject to restriction by cigirtance. Topless nightclubs in Houston, Texassatgect to "The Sexually Oriented Busir
Ordinance”, which contains prohibitions on the tama of an adult cabaret. The prohibitions deal egalty with distance from schoc
churches, and other sexually oriented businesssa@mtain restrictions based on the percentagesifiences within the immediate vicinity
the sexually oriented business. The granting oxu8lly Oriented Business Permit is not subjeaditzretion; the Business Permit mus
granted if the proposed operation satisfies thairements of the Ordinance. (See “Legal Proceedihgsein.)

In Minneapolis, we are required to be in compliangt state and city liquor licensing laws. Ourdtion in Minneapolis is presently zone(
enable the operation of a topless cabaret. We werkintiff in civil litigation against the defendiaCity of Minneapolis. On September
2003, the suit was settled mainly on the basis ttiatCity of Minneapolis will enact a late hosidperation ordinance and allows qualify
liquor establishments, including us at our curitengtion, to operate until 3:00 a.m. We believd,timathe long run, the restoration of late he
operation on a permanent basis is preferable toggoirward with the litigation and in our best irest.

In San Antonio and Austin, Texas, we are requicelde in compliance with city or county sexuallyemted business ordinances. In New Y
we are required to be in compliance with all statd local laws governing the sale of liquor andizgrior adult oriented businesses. We
we are in compliance with these laws at this timeCharlotte we are required to be in compliancth wity or county sexually oriented busin
ordinances.

TRADEMARKS

Our rights to the trademarks "Rick's" and "Rickab@ret" are established under common law, based aposubstantial and continuous us
these trademarks in interstate commerce sinceast s early as 1987. We have registered our semvick, 'RICK'S AND STARS DESIGNM
with the United States Patent and Trademark Offi¢e.have also obtained service mark registrations the Patent and Trademark Office
the "RICK'S CABARET" service mark. There can beassurance that the steps we have taken to prateseovice marks will be adequatt
deter misappropriation.

EMPLOYEES AND INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS

As of September 30, 2006, we had approximately &6(ployees, of which 94 are in management positiomsuding corporate ai
administrative and Internet operations and appratety 466 of which are engaged in entertainmerddfand beverage service, incluc
bartenders, waitresses, and entertainers. Noneroémployees are represented by a union. We canesitteemployee relations to be gc
Additionally, as of September 30, 2006, we had [reshelent contractor relationships with more than &6tertainers, who are safrployel
and perform at our locations on a nexclusive basis as independent contractors. Ouertaiters in Minneapolis, Minnesota act
commissioned employees.
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SHARE REPURCHASES

As of September 30, 2006 we owned 908,530 treashayes of our common stock that we acquired in aparket purchases and fr
investors who originally acquired the shares fra@ariruprivate transactions. At this time, we do hate any plan to use these shares to ac
any assets.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors airéab us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofammmon stock. No shares have
purchased under this program.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive office is located at 10956tten Road, Houston, Texas 77066 which consists @000 square feet office/warehc
building. We purchased this property in Decembe¥42for $512,739, payable with $86,279 cash at otpsind $426,460 in a promissory r
carrying 7% interest and a 15 year term. The mgrmhyment is $3,834. As of September 30, 2006bthence of the mortgage was $396,
The last mortgage payment is due in 2019. We beltbat our offices are adequate for our presentdsamd that suitable space will
available to accommodate our future needs.

We own four locations of Rick's Cabaret (two in dtman, one in San Antonio, and one in Minneapol&ub Onyx Houston, and the t
locations of XTC (one in Austin and one in San Ant). We own the property where Encounters clublduston is locategdwhich is currentl
under lease to Tantric Enterprises, Inc. We lea§€ ¥outh, XTC North, Club Onyx San Antonio, Rickew York, Rick's Charlotte, ar
Rick’s Austin locations.

CLUB PROPERTIES WE OWN:

1. Club Onyx, located on Bering Drive in Houston, la@saggregate 12,300 square feet of space. In Dexe2dB4, we paid off the ¢
mortgage and obtained a new one with initial badawfc$1,270,000 and interest rate of 10% per anowen a 10 year term. The moi
received from this new note was used to financeattwuisition of the New York club. As of SeptemB@; 2006, the balance of -
mortgage was $1,233,766. During fiscal year 2006 paid $12,256 in monthly principal and interestrpants. The monthly payme
is calculated based on a 20 year amortization stee@he last mortgage payment is due in 2015.
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2.

The Rick's Cabaret, located on North Belt DriveHaouston, has 12,000 square feet of space. In Nogerad04, we obtained
mortgage using this property as collateral. Thagpial balance of the new mortgage is $1,042,00h, an annual interest rate of 1
over a 10 year term. The money received from tle& mote was used to finance the acquisition of Nleev York club. As ¢
September 30, 2006, the balance of the mortgage$d/d: 0,651. The monthly payment of principal antbriest is $10,056. T
monthly payment is calculated based on a 20 yeartization schedule. The last mortgage paymenuésid 2014.

The Rick's Cabaret, located in Minneapolis, hagd® square feet of space. The balance, as of Skpte3d, 2006, that we owed
the mortgage is $1,941,917 and the interest ra@®6sWe pay $22,732 in monthly principal and ins¢qgayments. The last mortgi
payment is due in 2008 with a balloon payment q7$4,432.

The XTC nightclub in Austin has 8,600 square fefesmace, which sits on 1.2 acres of land. In Au@825, we restructured t
mortgage by extending the term to 10 years. Tharoal of the mortgage that we owed as of Septenthe2(®6 is $234,274 with
interest rate of 11% and monthly principal and res¢ payments of $3,445. In November 2004, we pbthan additional mortgay
The principal balance of the new mortgage is $90W,With an annual interest rate of 11% over ad#éryerm. In June and July 2C
we obtained additional funds in the amount of $200, In August 2005 we combined the additional &imdo the $900,000 mortga
The money received from this new note was usedn@n€e the acquisition and renovation of the NewkYdub. The monthl
principal and interest payment is $15,034. As gft&mber 30, 2006, the balance of the mortgage Ww#23,306. The last payme
for both mortgages are due in 2015.

We own XTC nightclub in San Antonio, which has Q&uare feet of space. In November 2004, we addagnmortgage using tl
property as collateral. The principal balance &f tiew mortgage is $590,000, with an annual intesgstof 10% over a 10 year te
The money received from this new note was usethtmte the acquisition and renovation of the NewkYaub. As of September @
2006, the balance of this mortgage was $572,258.ribinthly principal and interest payment is $5,684e last mortgage paymen
due in 2014.

The property where Encounters is located has 8s00@re feet of space. In December 2004, we paitheffnortgage we previou:
had. In November 2004, together with property inst#u this property was used as additional colitéo secure the $900,C
mortgage above. Beginning November 2004, we begegiving a monthly lease payment from Tantric Eoriges, Inc. in the amot
of $4,000 for this space.
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7.

10.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owns a 3&6€re ranch in Brazoria County, Texas. The balascef &eptember 30, 2005 that
owed on the Brazoria County ranch mortgage was 8289%nd the interest rate was 9%. During fiscak #9006, we paid $2,573
monthly principal and interest payments. A ballpatyment of $287,920 was paid in March 2006.

Our subsidiary, Citation Land LLC, owned approxiglat50 acres of raw land in Wise County, Texas. bhknce as of Septem
30, 2006 that we owed on the Wise County raw laodigage was $139,157 with an interest rate of 128.paid $1,537 in montt
principal and interest payments. Subsequent talfigear end, on October 11, 2006, we sold thespepties for $165,000, which w
the amount we had recorded for such propertiesespteghber 30, 2006, after recording a $68,134 impait charge at Septem
2006. The proceeds were used to pay off the mostgag

On April 5, 2006, our wholly owned subsidiary, RE&oldings, Inc. completed the acquisition of readerty located at 9009 Airpt
Blvd., Houston, Texas where we currently operatekRi Sports Cabaret (previously Hummers Sports BarXh@ South clubs
Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we paatah $ales price of $1,300,000 which consisted 50000 in cash and 160,(
shares of our restricted common stock.

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Holdings;. lacquired 100% of the interest in the improvea property upon which @
Rick’s San Antonio is located. The total purchase pfizethe business and real property was $2,900,00@ler terms of tF
agreement, the Company paid the owners of theahabproperty $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory nc
for the remaining balance.

CLUB PROPERTIES WE LEASE:

We lease the property in Houston, Texas, whereX@@ North is located. The lease term is for fiveagge beginning March 2004, w
an additional fiveyear lease option thereafter. The monthly renBi®@0 until August 31, 2006, at which time the ninbntbase rer
increases to $9,000.

We lease the property in New York City, New Yorkhave our Ricks Cabaret NYC is located. We assumed the exis¢éiagel whic
will terminate in April 2023. The monthly rent igl$,469 until May 2007, at which time the monthlysbaent increases to $42,7
Under the term of the existing lease, the basewdhincrease by approximately 3% each year.

We lease the property in Charlotte, North Caroliwhere our Ricks Cabaret Charlotte is located. Subsequent tol fisgr end, o
December 14, 2006, we converted this club into Glutyx Charlotte. We assumed the existing leasectwhiill terminate in Jur
2009, with an additional fivgear lease option thereafter. The monthly ren2®,@00 until July 2007, at which time the monthjst
rent will increase to $23,000.
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4, We lease the property in South Houston, Texas, evbar XTC South is located. The lease term is éoesatynine months, beginnit
May 1, 2006. The monthly rent is $3,000 for thetffiorty-three months and $3,500 thereafter.

5. We lease the property in San Antonio, Texas, wbereClub Onyx is located. The lease term is foe fijiears, beginning July 1, 20
with monthly rent of $5,000.

6. Subsequent to our fiscal year end, we leased thigepty in Austin, Texas, where our RiskAustin is located. The lease term is fo
years, beginning November 10, 2006, with monthlynpents of $29,000. We also have the option to refoewanother ten year

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
SEXUALLY ORIENTED BUSINESS ORDINANCE OF HOUSTON, ™AS

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofddton passed a comprehensive new Ordinance reguldie location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindnc€&he Ordinance established new minimum distancasStrually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowart$ other sexually oriented businesses. There wer@rovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance 9971 we were informed that one of
Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive failed toatthe requirements of the Ordinance and accorgliogil renewal of our Business Licens
the location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagdea renewal of its operating permit due to clesnig distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup, by
effective date of the Ordinance, its investmenhmbusiness that was incurred through the datieegpassage and approval of the Ordinance.

We filed a request with the City of Houston reqirgstin extension of time during which operationswatnorth Houston facility could contin
under the Amortization Period provisions of the iQamce since we were unable to recoup our invedtipeaor to the effective date of t
Ordinance. An administrative hearing was held ke @ity of Houston to determine the appropriate Aimation Period to be granted to us
the Hearing, we were granted an amortization petiad has since been reached. We have the rigappeal any decision of the Heal
official to the district court in the State of Texa
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In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitodlity of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wistrict Court for the Southern District of Texadpuston Division, struck down certi
provisions of the Ordinance, including the provisimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a clabsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisfahe 750 foot distance as it existed prior to@rdinance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Ceunilings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals the event that the City of Houstor
successful in the appeal, we could be out of caanpk and such an outcome could have an adversetimpaur future at such locations. |
nightclub in our south Houston location has a vakamit/license that expired in December 2006. péenits for our north Houston locat
and our Bering Drive location have expired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texatif@nce, such as provisions governing the levdigbting in a sexually oriented busine
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of dan
and club managers that were upheld by the courttwhiay be detrimental to our business. We, in atneéh other sexually orientt
businesses, are appealing those aspects of theaDoa.

In November 2003, a three judge panel from thenRfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opinishich affirmed the Trial Cour$ ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer isgjmen distances and licensing of dancers and.sta# Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cludyrbe located from a church or school. The CouApgeals held th.
a distance measurement of 1,500 feet would be dpif@n a showing by the City of Houston that iirals that there were alternative <
available for relocating clubs could be substaatlat The case was remanded for trial on the issiuéhe alternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could axditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigtre not decided at the trial level during
initial phase of the case. It is anticipated thaise technical issues will be joined in the Trial@. The City has not sought to modify any ol
terms of the injunction against enforcement of Ex@ation provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Corutings in 1998 has been exhausted. Under thadirfipbf the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, 1
City of Houston has the burden of proof to showt,tbhader the distance measurements contained ihd®eé ordinance, there are alternate
available for relocation. The trial commenced orc®aber 4, 2006. A decision from the Trial Coumdg anticipated until some time in 20
In the event the City of Houston can meet its barded prevails at trial, we would appeal that milifihe effect of any potential adverse ru
on our operations in Houston is unknown. An adveus@g would affect all sexually oriented businessn Houston. In that event, we wc
change our method of operations to require ourreiters to wear latex and bikini bottoms. Whilemagement believes this potential che
will not have a meaningful effect on our operatioas the effect would be to all similarly situatedsinesses, the effect is unknown.

possible an adverse ruling may allow for additics@hpetition in the Houston market.
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OTHER LEGAL MATTERS

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the 323udicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-Cl-15656 and
styledEdward Jimenez, et al v. Rick’s Cabaret Internadipinc., et al. This is a wrongful death and personal injury eaosaction against
two individuals, based upon negligence theoried, @gainst us and our co-defendants, all of whiehrexw our subsidiaries, based upon
alleged “dram shop” violations, arising out of atwehicle collision on August 1, 2006. The collisioccurred prior to our acquiring Spiros
Partners Ltd. Spiros Partners Ltd. owns and opeiate Rick's San Antonio. Plaintiffs include thergiats - one of whom was driving - of
the two juvenile decedents, one of the decedenti®msiblings and another minor child, both of whamre also passengers in the car that
was struck by the allegedly intoxicated defendaited. Plaintiffs are seeking unspecified damagesplst and future physical pain and
suffering, mental anguish, physical impairmentsla$ companionship and consortium, funeral and o@dixpenses, property damages,
and exemplary damages.

Management believes that we are not liable for @inthe damages and that they are covered by tHe terbor” provision set forth in
Section 106.14 of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Ceodsch provides that certain compliant establishteeare not liable for the acts of
their patrons. There does exist insurance covefi@gthis claim, although this insurance does natecany exemplary damages awarded,
nor those amounts beyond its limits. Managementleasged any liability for this accident and is vigosly defending the lawsuit, which is
presently in the beginning stages of the discopeogess with a preliminary motion to dismiss twaaf subsidiaries having been denied.

On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the $3iidicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-CI-08592 and styled
Richard P. Branson v. Spiros Partner,Ltd. dba TleatAouse Clul. This action occurred prior to our acquiring SpiRartners Ltd. Spiros
Partners Ltd. owns and operates our Rick’s Sanotd his was a fraud, assault, abuse of procagasion of privacy and slander action
based upon the plaintiff's allegation that the Cintentionally took advantage of and assaulted Wimile he was there on July 3, 2004, then
subsequently was responsible for his maliciousgmation by the Bexar County District Attorney. B sought unspecified damages for
past and future physical pain and suffering, mesmaluish, physical disability, financial injury asgemplary damages.

Management does not believe it is liable for anyttef damages. There was no insurance coveragddoadts complained of by the
plaintiff. Management denied any liability for tleeallegations and vigorously defended the laws§ditDecember 13, 2006, our motion for
summary judgment (based upon the plaintiff havingemidence to support any of his contentions) wasted in full. The plaintiff has 30
days to appeal.
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On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 8Qudicial District Court of Harris County, Texasylstl Cause No. 2004-1851Gharity Rene
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, effais is a wrongful death and personal injury@ttagainst two individuals based on negligt
theories and five entertainment establishmentaudioy us based on alleged “dram shop” violationsireg from a twoear collision. Plaintiff
have also sued Ford Motor Company under a theoprafucts liability. Plaintiffs include the childreof the decedents, a minor passenge
the mothers of the decedents. Plaintiffs are segelirspecified damages including physical pain arifesng, mental anguish, pecuniary Ic
past and future loss of companionship and consortiaoss of mental and intellectual function, pasd &uture physical impairment, reductior
earning capacity, increased education costs anensgs including funeral and medical costs. Subsedadiscal year end, the case was se
on December 11, 2006 (subject to court ’ s appjpwdiich we recorded as accrued liabilities andeptxpense in September 2006.

One of our locations is currently being investigatey the Equal Employment Opportunity CommissioBEOC”) as the result of two (
complaints which were filed with the EEOC by formemployees. The complaints are that male employess used to replace fem
employees in certain positions at the particulabdbcation. We have provided the EEOC with theeamals and information requested.
have fully cooperated with the investigation. Adiimg by the EEOC is not anticipated until 2007.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

We held our Annual Meeting of Shareholders on M2y20D06. The results of the meeting have beenatiedl in our quarterly report Form 10-
QSB for the period ending June 30, 2006.

PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOC KHOLDER MATTERS AND SMALL
BUSINESS ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ SmallCagpkdt under the symbol "RICK". The following talslets forth the quarterly high ¢
low of sales prices per share for the common stocthe last two fiscal years.
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COMMON STOCK PRICE RANGE

HIGH LOW

Fiscal 2006

First Quarter $ 3.8¢ $ 2.9%
Second Quarter $ 6.2C $ 3.7¢
Third Quarter $ 74C $ 5.3C
Fourth Quarter $ 797 % 6.0¢
Fiscal 2005

First Quarter $ 3.0 % 2.2C
Second Quarter $ 461 $ 2.8t
Third Quarter $ 3.1¢ $ 2.65
Fourth Quarter $ 358 $ 2.7C

On December 15, 2006, the last sales price foctimemon stock as reported on the NASDAQ SmallCapkstavas $5.27. On December
2006, there were approximately 1,480 stockholdéreanrd of the common stock.

TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR

The transfer agent and registrar for our commonksi® American Stock Transf& Trust Company, 59 Maiden Lane, New York, New Y
10038.

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have not paid, and do not currently intend tp gash dividends on our common stock in the foraiskeefuture. Our current policy is
retain all earnings, if any, to provide funds f@eoation and expansion of our business. The deidaraf dividends, if any, will be subject
the discretion of the Board of Directors, which mapnsider such factors as our results of operafioancial condition, capital needs

acquisition strategy, among others.

On September 16, 2003, our board of directors aizéha us to repurchase up to $500,000 worth ofammmon stock. No shares have
purchased under this program.
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EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth all equity compeisaiplans as of September 30, 2006:

Number of securities remaining
Number of securities to be available for future issuance
issued upon exercise of Weighted-average exercise price under equity compensation
outstanding options, warrants |of outstanding options, warrants]  plans (excluding securities

and rights and rights reflected in column (a))
Plan category (@) (b) (c)
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders 727,500 $2.70 8,000

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feaswe pay the expenses of our directors in attgntoard meetings. In May 2006, we iss
10,000 stock options to each Director who is a mamalh our Audit Committee and 5,000 options to otlrer Directors. These options hay
strike price of $6.75 per share and expire in May12

EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTION PLANS

While we have been successful in attracting andimiety qualified personnel, we believe that oumfatsuccess will depend in part on
continued ability to attract and retain highly dfietl personnel. We pay wages and salaries thdielieve are competitive. We also believe
equity ownership is an important factor in our épilo attract and retain skilled personnel. Weéadopted stock option plans (the “Plarfsf)
employees and directors. The purpose of the P&atwsfurther our interests, our subsidiaries andstackholders by providing incentives in
form of stock options to key employees and directeho contribute materially to our success andifatoifity. The grants recognize and rew
outstanding individual performances and contrimgi@nd will give such persons a proprietary inteieaus, thus enhancing their persc
interest in our continued success and progress.Plaes also assist us and our subsidiaries inctitigpand retaining key employees
directors. The Plans are administered by the Bo&firectors. The Board of Directors has the exglipower to select the participants in
Plans, to establish the terms of the options gdatdeeach participant, provided that all optionanged shall be granted at an exercise
equal to at least 85% of the fair market valueh&f tommon stock covered by the option on the ghateé and to make all determinati
necessary or advisable under the Plans.

In August 1999 we adopted the 1999 Stock Option Rlze “1999 Plan"with 500,000 shares authorized to be granted alddusaler the 19¢
Plan. In August 2004, shareholders approved an Alment to the 1999 Plan (the “Amendmentfich increased the total number of sh
authorized to 1,000,000. As of September 30, 2028,500 stock options are presently outstandingutice 1999 Plan, with 194,500 of wt
have been exercised during the fiscal year.
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES

During the quarter ended September 30, 2006, weplated the following transactions in reliance ugxemptions from registration under
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Act") mwided in Section 4(2) thereof. All certificatessiied in connection with these transac
were endorsed with a restrictive legend confirmiihgt the securities could not be resold withouistegtion under the Act or an applica
exemption from the registration requirements of Aoe. None of the transactions involved a publifedhg, underwriting discounts or sa
commissions. We believe that each person was dalifigdd investor within the meaning of the Act and had kkedlge and experience
financial and business matters, which allowed themvaluate the merits and risks of our securitggh person was knowledgeable abou
operations and financial condition.

1. In July 2006, the seller of the New York club corted $350,000 of principal from the related promigsnote into 50,000 shares
restricted common stock.

2. In August 2006, a holder of a convertible debentaaverted $25,023 of interest owed into 5,269 ehaf restricted common stock.
ITEM 6. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL C ONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith our audited consolidated financial statatseand the related notes to the financial
statements included in this Form 10-KSB.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT AND INFORMATION

We are including the following cautionary statemianthis Form 10KSB to make applicable and take advantage of tfeetssrbor provision «
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of B9for any forward-looking statements made by uswrbehalf of us. Forwartboking
statements include statements concerning planecigs, goals, strategies, future events or pedioce and underlying assumptions and «
statements, which are other than statements afrtdat facts. Certain statements in this Form 1Bk&e forwardlooking statements. Wor
such as "expects," "believes," "anticipates,” "mayd "estimates" and similar expressions are dedrto identify forwardeoking statement
Such statements are subject to risks and unceetsititat could cause actual results to differ niatgrfrom those projected. Such risks .
uncertainties are set forth below. Our expectatibefiefs and projections are expressed in godt &id we believe that they have a reasol
basis, including without limitation, our examinatiof historical operating trends, data containedun records and other data available 1
third parties. There can be no assurance thatxqectations, beliefs or projections will result, &ehieved, or be accomplished. In additio
other factors and matters discussed elsewherdsr-tirm 10KSB, the following are important factors that inrotew could cause mater
adverse affects on our financial condition and ltssof operations: the risks and uncertaintiesteeldo our future operational and finan
results, the risks and uncertainties relating to lotiernet operations, competitive factors, theingnof the openings of other clubs,

availability of acceptable financing to fund corate expansion efforts, our dependence on key peesothe ability to manage operations
the future operational strength of managementthadaws governing the operation of adult ententeint businesses. We have no obligatic
update or revise these forward-looking statementsftect the occurrence of future events or cirstamces.
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RISK FACTORS

An investment in our Common Stock involves a higigrete of risk. You should carefully consider theksidescribed below before decidin
purchase shares of our Common Stock. If any ofethents, contingencies, circumstances or conditit@sribed in the risks below actui
occurs, our business, financial condition or resoft operations could be seriously harmed. Thangagrice of our Common Stock could,
turn, decline and you could lose all or part of ymvestment.

Our Business Operations are Subject to Regulatagetfainties Which May Affect Our Ability to Contie Operations of Existing Nightclu
Acquire Additional Nightclubs or Be Profitable

Adult entertainment nightclubs are subject to Ipstdte and federal regulations. Our businesggiglaged by local zoning, local and state lic
licensing, local ordinances and state and fedéra place and manner restrictions. The adult exitertent provided by our nightclubs
elements of speech and expression and, therefojeysesome protection under the First Amendmenthi® United States Constitutis
However, the protection is limited to the expressiand not the conduct of an entertainer. Whileraghtclubs are generally well establishe
their respective markets, there can be no assuthatéocal, state and/or federal licensing andeotiegulations will permit our nightclubs
remain in operation or profitable in the future.

As discussed in the section entitled “Legal Prooegsd herein, we are subject to litigation regarding 8exually Oriented Business license
Houston, Texas. The trial commenced on Decemb20@6. A decision from the Trial Court is not arpiied until some time in 2007. In

event the City of Houston can meet its burden aedals at trial, we would appeal that ruling. Téféect of any potential adverse ruling on
operations in Houston is unknown. An adverse rulirogld affect all sexually oriented businesses auston. In that event, we would cha
our method of operations to require our entertainemwear latex and bikini bottoms. While managentetieves this potential change will

have a meaningful effect on our operations, aseffext would be to all similarly situated businessine effect is unknown. It is possible
adverse ruling may allow for additional competitiarthe Houston market.
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We May Need Additional Financing or Our Businespansion Plans May Be Significantly Limited

If cash generated from our operations is insuffiti® satisfy our working capital and capital exgiéure requirements, we will need to r¢
additional funds through the public or private safeour equity or debt securities. The timing amdoant of our capital requirements \
depend on a number of factors, including cash foMt cash requirements for nightclub acquisitiohadtlitional funds are raised through
issuance of equity or convertible debt securitiee,percentage ownership of our theisting shareholders will be reduced. We cannstiia
you that additional financing will be available taxms favorable to us, if at all. Any future equityancing, if available, may result in diluti
to existing shareholders, and debt financing, dilable, may include restrictive covenants. Anyluia by us to procure timely additiol
financing will have material adverse consequencesus business operations.

There is Substantial Competition in the Nightclubtdftainment Industry, Which May Affect Our Abilitipy Operate Profitably or Acqu
Additional Clubs

Our nightclubs face competition. Some of these agitgys may have greater financial and managenesources than we do. Additionally,
industry is subject to unpredictable competitiventts and competition for general entertainmentadallThere can be no assurance that wi
be able to remain profitable in this competitivdustry.

Risk of Adult Nightclubs Operations

Historically, the adult entertainment, restauramd &#ar industry has been an extremely volatile strgu The industry tends to be extren
sensitive to the general local economy, in thatrwbeeonomic conditions are prosperous, entertainimelustry revenues increase, and w
economic conditions are unfavorable, entertainnightistry revenues decline. Coupled with this ecoieasensitivity are the trendy perso
preferences of the customers who frequent aduliredds We continuously monitor trends in our cugimantastes and entertainment prefere
so that, if necessary, we can make appropriategasamwhich will allow us to remain one of the premiedult cabarets. However,
significant decline in general corporate conditimmsuncertainties regarding future economic protpétat affect consumer spending c¢
have a material adverse effect on our businesaddlition, we have historically catered to a cliémtease from the upper end of the ma
Accordingly, further reductions in the amounts ofeztainment expenses allowed as deductions fraonie under the Internal Revenue C
of 1954, as amended, could adversely affect salesstomers dependent upon corporate expense dascoun
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Permits Relating to the Sale of Alcohol

We derive a significant portion of our revenuegrirthe sale of alcoholic beverages. In Texas, thiecaity to issue a permit to sell alcohc
beverages is governed by the Texas Alcoholic B@e@ommission (the "TABC"), which has the authority its discretion, to issue t
appropriate permits. Rick's presently holds a MiB=lerage Permit and a Late Hours Permit (the "RefmThese Permits are subjec
annual renewal, provided we have complied withndis and regulations governing the permits. ReheWa permit is subject to protest, wh
may be made by a law enforcement agency or by alraenf the general public. In the event of a prpttee TABC may hold a hearing
which time the views of interested parties are egped. The TABC has the authority after such hgarat to issue a renewal of the prote
alcoholic beverage permit. While we have never lméiject to a protest hearing against the renefvalioPermits, there can be no assur
that such a protest could not be made in the fuhwecan there be any assurance that the Permitklve granted in the event such a pr
was made. Other states may have similar laws whia} limit the availability of a permit to sell aloolic beverages or which may provide
suspension or revocation of a permit to sell altiohmeverages in certain circumstances. The tenmpanapermanent suspension or revoca
of either of the Permits or the inability to obtgiarmits in areas of expansion would have a matedeerse effect on the revenues, finar
condition and results of operations of the Company.

We Must Continue to Meet The NASDAQ Small Cap MaiRentinued Listing Requirements or We Risk Detigti

Our securities are currently listed for tradingtbe NASDAQ Small Cap Market. We must continue tisfa NASDAQ's continued listin
requirements or risk delisting which would havesaiverse effect on our business. If our securitieseger ddisted from the NASDAQ, it me
trade on the over-the-counter market, which mag bess liquid market. In such case, our sharehela@dility to trade or obtain quotations
the market value of shares of our common stock evdnel severely limited because of lower trading e and transaction delays. Tt
factors could contribute to lower prices and largggreads in the bid and ask prices for our seesrifihere is no assurance that we will be
to maintain compliance with the NASDAQ continuestitig requirements.

In The Future, We Will Incur Significant Increas€dsts as a Result of Operating as a Public Compard/QOur Management Will Be Requi
to Devote Substantial Time to New Compliance liii@s

In the future, we will incur significant legal, ammnting and other expenses. The Sarbanes-Oxlewp{A2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Actds
well as new rules subsequently implemented by tB€,Shave imposed various new requirements on pudlinpanies, including requiri
changes in corporate governance practices. Our geament and other personnel will need to devotebataantial amount of time to these r
compliance initiatives. Moreover, these rules agltations will increase our legal and financiaingdiance costs and will make some activ
more timeeonsuming and costly. For example, we expect theserules and regulations to make it more diffi@ritd more expensive for us
obtain director and officer liability insurance,cawe may be required to incur substantial costedmtain the same or similar coverage.

23




Table of Content

In addition, the Sarbané3xley Act requires, among other things, that we ntzn effective internal controls for financial mting anc
disclosure controls and procedures. In particdammencing in fiscal 2008, we must perform systeich grocess evaluation and testing or
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahgieporting, as required by Section 404 of theb&aesOxley Act. Subsequently in fisc
2009, our independent registered public accourfitmg will report on the effectiveness of our intafrcontrols over financial reporting,
required by Section 404 of the Sarbafedey Act. Our testing, or the subsequent testip@lr independent registered public accounting,
may reveal deficiencies in our internal controle¥financial reporting that are deemed to be matevieaknesses. Our compliance \
Section 404 will require that we incur substansiatounting expense and expend significant managesfifents. We currently do not have
internal audit group, and we will need to hire &iddial accounting and financial staff with appregei public company experience and tech
accounting knowledge. Moreover, if we are not aolecomply with the requirements of Section 404 itiraely manner, or if we or o
independent registered public accounting firm idiexst deficiencies in our internal controls ovendncial reporting that are deemed tc
material weaknesses, the market price of our stockd decline, and weould be subject to sanctions or investigationghgy SEC or othi
regulatory authorities, which would require addiibfinancial and management resources.

Uninsured Risks

We maintain insurance in amounts we consider adedaapersonal injury and property damage to whighbusiness of the Company ma;
subject. However, there can be no assurance tlidunad liabilities in excess of the coverage piedi by insurance, which liabilities may
imposed pursuant to the Texas "Dram Shop" statusengilar "Dram Shop" statutes or common law thesof liability in other states where
operate or expand. The Texas "Dram Shop" statuieiqes a person injured by an intoxicated persenrifpht to recover damages from
establishment that wrongfully served alcoholic bbages to such person if it was apparent to theeseat the individual being sold, serve:
provided with an alcoholic beverage was obvioustgxicated to the extent that he presented a diaager to himself and others. An emplc
is not liable for the actions of its employee wheewserves if (i) the employer requires its employeesattend a seller training progr
approved by the TABC; (ii) the employee has acyuattended such a training program; and (iii) thgpyer has not directly or indirec
encouraged the employee to violate the law. luispwlicy to require that all servers of alcoholrking at our clubs be certified as servers u
a training program approved by the TABC, which ifiegtion gives statutory immunity to the sellefsadcohol from damage caused to tl
parties by those who have consumed alcoholic bgesrat such establishment pursuant to the Texashélic Beverage Code. There can b
assurance, however, that uninsured liabilities mayarise which could have a material adverse effed¢he Company.

Limitations on Protection of Service Marks

Our rights to the tradenames "Rick's" and "Riclkeb&ret" are established under the common law based our substantial and continuous
of these trademarks in interstate commerce sinlgasat as early as 1987. "RICK'S AND STARS DESIGNY "RICK'S CABARET" logos a
registered through service mark registrations iddnethe United States Patent and Trademark Offie€O"). There can be no assurance
these steps taken by the Company to protect itgic@eMarks will be adequate to deter misappropiatf its protected intellectual prope
rights. Litigation may be necessary in the futuwretotect our rights from infringement, which mag ¢ostly and time consuming. The los
the intellectual property rights owned or claimgdus could have a material adverse affect on osinless.
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Anti-takeover Effects of Issuance of Preferred Stock

The Board of Directors has the authority to isspeai1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock in onmane series, to fix the number of shi
constituting any such series, and to fix the rigirid preferences of the shares constituting angsservithout any further vote or action by
stockholders. The issuance of Preferred Stock &yBitiard of Directors could adversely affect théntsgof the holders of Common Stock.
example, such issuance could result in a classafrities outstanding that would have preferencéis respect to voting rights and divide!
and in liquidation over the Common Stock, and cdulgbn conversion or otherwise) enjoy all of thghts appurtenant to Common Stock.
Board's authority to issue Preferred Stock coultalirage potential takeover attempts and couldyd®igprevent a change in control of
Company through merger, tender offer, proxy comesitherwise by making such attempts more diffitolachieve or more costly. There
no issued and outstanding shares of Preferred Stoeke are no agreements or understandings foistiuance of Preferred Stock, and
Board of Directors has no present intention toés8teferred Stock.

We Do Not Anticipate Paying Dividends on Common gkan the Foreseeable Future

Since our inception we have not paid any divideodsour common stock and we do not anticipate pagimg dividends in the foresees
future. We expect that future earnings, if any] i used for working capital and to finance grawth

Future Sales of Our Common Stock May Depress Cagk3®rice

The market price of our common stock could declisa result of sales of substantial amounts otoommon stock in the public market, or i
result of the perception that these sales couldrodn addition, these factors could make it moiféadilt for us to raise funds through futt
offerings of common stock.

O ur Stock Price Has Been Volatile and May Fluctuatidne Future

The trading price of our securities may fluctuagm#icantly. This price may be influenced by mafagtors, including:

« our performance and prospects;

» the depth and liquidity of the market for our séies;

» sales by selling shareholders of shares issuestoable in connection with the Debenture and/onvEdible Note;
* investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

e changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatigmd by analysts;

« general financial and other market conditions; and

» domestic economic conditions.
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Public stock markets have experienced, and mayriexpe, extreme price and trading volume volatilifhese broad market fluctuations r
adversely affect the market price of our securities

O ur Management Controls a Significant Percentag@uwfCurrent Outstanding Common Stock and Theirésts May Conflict With Those
Our Shareholders

As of December 15, 2006, our Directors and exeeutiificers and their respective affiliates colleety and beneficially owned approximat
25.1% of our outstanding common stock, includingwarrants exercisable within 60 days. This conaitn of voting control gives o
Directors and executive officers and their respectiffiliates substantial influence over any mattehich require a shareholder vote, incluc
without limitation, the election of Directors, evédrtheir interests may conflict with those of otthareholders. It could also have the effe
delaying or preventing a change in control of dreotvise discouraging a potential acquirer fromragtng to obtain control of us. This co
have a material adverse effect on the market mfiogur common stock or prevent our shareholdersifrealizing a premium over the tt
prevailing market prices for their shares of comratatk.

We are Dependent on Key Personnel

Our future success is dependent, in a large panetaining the services of Mr. Eric Langan, oueditdlent, Chief Executive Officer and Ct
Financial Officer. Mr. Langan possesses a uniquk amprehensive knowledge of our industry. While Mangan has no present plan
leave or retire in the near future, his loss ccddle a negative effect on our operating, markedimgj financial performance if we are unabl
find an adequate replacement with similar knowledge experience within our industry. We maintaig-kean life insurance with respect
Mr. Langan. Although Mr. Langan is under an empleymagreement (as described herein), there car l@ssurance that Mr. Langan \
continue to be employed by us. The loss of Mr. laangould have a negative effect on our operatiragkating, and financing performance.

Cumulative Voting is Not Available To Stockholders

Cumulative voting in the election of Directors igpeessly denied in our Articles of Incorporationcodrdingly, the holder or holders o
majority of the outstanding shares of our commastistmay elect all of our Directors. Managemsngrge percentage ownership of
outstanding common stock helps enable them to miaititeir positions as such and thus control oflusiness and affairs.

Our Directors and Officers Have Limited Liabilithyé Have Rights To Indemnification

Our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws provide, germitted by governing Texas law, that our Dwextand officers shall not be person
liable to us or any of our stockholders for mongt@amages for breach of fiduciary duty as a Dinreotoofficer, with certain exceptions. T
Articles further provide that we will indemnify olirectors and officers against expenses and iissilthey incur to defend, settle, or sat
any civil litigation or criminal action brought aigat them on account of their being or having bésrDirectors or officers unless, in si
action, they are adjudged to have acted with gnegtigence or willful misconduct.
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The inclusion of these provisions in the Articleaymhave the effect of reducing the likelihood ofidative litigation against Directors a
officers, and may discourage or deter stockholdermanagement from bringing a lawsuit against Daecand officers for breach of their d
of care, even though such an action, if successfigiht otherwise have benefited us and our stodérs|

The Articles provide for the indemnification of oafficers and Directors, and the advancement tantlé expenses in connection with |
proceedings and claims, to the fullest extent peechiby Texas law. The Articles include relatedvyismns meant to facilitate the indemnit
receipt of such benefits. These provisions covenprag other things: (i) specification of the methofl determining entitlement
indemnification and the selection of independeninsel that will in some cases make such deternoinafii) specification of certain tin
periods by which certain payments or determinationsst be made and actions must be taken, andtlfi) establishment of certi
presumptions in favor of an indemnitee.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisinmpder the Securities Act may be permitted to oteddors, officers and controlling persons
pursuant to the foregoing provisions, we have lahised that in the opinion of the Securities ardiange Commission, such indemnifica
is against public policy as expressed in the SgearAct and is therefore unenforceable.

GENERAL INFORMATION

We operate in two businesses in the adult enteniai industry:

1. We own and/or operate upscale adult nightclubsirsgrgrimarily businessmen and professionals. Oghtaiubs offer live adu
entertainment, restaurant and bar operations. Weand operate nine adult nightclubs under the ridiek's Cabaret" and "XTC"
Houston, Austin and San Antonio, Texas, Minneapdlimnesota, and New York, New York. We also ownl aperate three upsc
venues that cater especially to urban professiptaisinessmen and professional athletes calledb*@Clayx” in Houston and S:
Antonio, Texas, and Charlotte, North Carolina,. W& own and operate “Rick’s Sports Cabarbl. sexual contact is permittec
any of our locations.

2. We have extensive Internet activities.

a) We currently own two adult Internet membership Wsiles at www.CoupleTouch.com and www.xxxpassword.ctVe
acquire xxxpassword.com site content from wholesale
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b) We operate an online auction site www.NaughtyBigis.cThis site provides our customers with the oppoty to purchas
adult products and services in an auction formag. &8rn revenues by charging fees for each transactinducted on tl
automated site.

Our nightclub revenues are derived from the saldicpfor, beer, wine, food, merchandise, cover cbsrgnembership fees, indepen:
contractors' fees, commissions from vending and Amslchines, valet parking and other products andicgss. Our Internet revenues
derived from subscriptions to adult content Intérwebsites, traffic/referral revenues, and comrissiearned on the sale of products
services through Internet auction sites, and ahdvities. Our fiscal year end is September 30.

Beginning in fiscal 2002 and continuing througlcéis2006, we greatly reduced our usage of promatipricing for membership fees for «
adult entertainment web sites. This reduced owrmegs from these web sites.

We performed our annual evaluation on goodwill impant as of September 30, 2006. We determined ttietgoodwill related to ti
acquisition of Bobby’s Novelty, Inc. was impairendacharged $79,841 against operating expenses.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptions ffhat eertain reported amounts in the financialtesteents and accompanying na
Estimates and assumptions are based on historiparience, forecasted future events and variousraBsumptions that we believe tc
reasonable under the circumstances. Estimatesssougnations may vary under different assumptionsoaditions. We evaluate our estimi
and assumptions on an ongoing basis. We believadt@unting policies below are critical in the payal of our financial condition and resi
of operations.

Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedctédit card charges, which are generally convettedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Company’s accounts receio#tide is comprised of employee advances and otisgrellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included meotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakresets. The Company recognizes int
income on notes receivable based on the termseddgheement and based upon managesientiuation that the notes receivable and int
income will be collectedThe Company recognizes allowances for doubtful aeto or notes when, based on management judc
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvalk will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufius Entertainment as of Septembe
2006 and 2005 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestaalth, Inc."). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug$i62 As such, the Company presently owns the slarédas the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2006, the valubeoEhares totals approximately $150,000. As theuat due has been fully collaterali
since the note receivable agreement was enterethar@dompany believes such collateral will fullfisfy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septedfbh 2006 and 2005. The Company intends to aehielectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, inloy @elling the shares in the open market orpnivate transaction.
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Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @wipany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2006 an& 200sist of common stock. Statement of Financiedinting Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgBiecurities requires certain investments be recorded awédire or amortized co
The appropriate classification of the investmentsniarketable equity is determined at the time atpase and revaluated at each balal
sheet date. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005 dhgpany’s marketable securities were classifiedvaslable-forsale, which are carried
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses requbats other comprehensive income within the stddens’ equity section of the accompany
consolidated balance sheets. The cost of marketpléy securities sold is determined on a spedifeantification basis. The fair value
marketable equity securities is based on quotedteb@rices. There have been no realized gainsssebrelated to marketable securities fo
year ended September 30, 2006. Marketable seunitilel at September 30, 2006 and 2005 have a asist d&f approximately $13,00

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prowsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yeBrgniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatietrments that extend the useful lives are daggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditeztén the accompanying statement of operatidriseorespective period.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. X&8odwill and Other Intangibles Assetahich addresses the accounting for goodwill atiabi

intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill emtangible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an an

basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIMA. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &

September 30, 2006, based on a projected discosasdtflow method using a discount rate determlmedanagement to be commenst

with the risk inherent in the current business nhodlee Company determined that the goodwill relatethe acquisition of Bobbg'Novelty

Inc. was impaired and charged $79,841 against tpgraxpenses. All of the Compasygoodwill and intangible assets relate to the taigh

segment. Definite lived intangible assets are ameaton a straight-line basis over their estimdivess. Fully amortized assets are writteffi-
against accumulated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohaliz beverages, food and merchandise and sergicé®e point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membersinipgccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.41(Revenue Recognitiofy
deferring membership revenue and recognizing dwerestimated membership usage period. Managemi@miaess that the weighted aver
useful lives for memberships are 12 and 24 morgharinual and lifetime memberships, respectivehe Tompany does not track member
usage by type of membership, however it believeseHives are appropriate and conservative, basedamagemerd’ knowledge of its clie
base and membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from myprahbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdgem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Company recognizes Inteauetion revenue when paymen
received from the credit card as revenues are emingd estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.

Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primariljngosed of costs related to public advertisemenid giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing ezyges are expensed as incurred and are includempérating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.
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Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@&counting for Income TaxePeferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for the futax consequences attributable to differencesdsivthe financial statement carrying amao
of existing assets and liabilities and their resipedax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabiltfesmeasured using enacted tax rates expec
apply to taxable income in the years in which thtesaporary differences are expected to be recoverestttied. The effect on deferred
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate®é®gnized in income in the period that includes ¢hactment date. In addition, a value
allowance is established to reduce any deferrecasmet for which it is determined that it is makeely than not that some portion of
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Stock Options

At September 30, 2006, the Company has stock aptimtstanding, which are described more fully inteNd of the consolidated financ
statements. The Company accounts for its stocloweptunder the recognition and measurement prirgipfeAccounting Principles Boe
(“APB”) Opinion No. 25,Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees] related Interpretations. The following tablesirates the effect on t
income and earnings per share if the Company hpliedpthe fair value recognition provisions of SFAS. 123,Accounting for StocBase!
Compensatiortp stock-based employee compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgtere data as if a fair value accounting methatlfegen used to account for stdukse
compensation:

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005

Net income (loss), as report $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149
Less total stock-based employee compensation egplisrmined under the fair value

based method for all awards (611,409 (549,16"
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 1141300 $ (764,31)
Earnings (loss) per share:

Basic - as reported $ 03¢ $ (0.05)

Diluted - as reported $ 0.3t $ (0.0%)

Basic - pro forma $ 0.2t $ (0.19)

Diluted - pro forma $ 02: $ (0.19)
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Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Stansl@&dard (“FASB”) issued interpretation 46R (“FINR¥, a revision to interpretation
(“FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitie§IN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIB d@nd exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the endheffirst interim period ending after March 15, 200#e adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R
not have a material impact on the Company’s codat#d financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, SBased Payment, which is a revision of SFAS 123,ofioting for StockBaser
Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion 25, Adtmufor Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123R fesugrimarily on sharbase:
payments for employee services, requiring thesengays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdefiloe use of APB 25’intrinsic valu
method of accounting for employee stock optionslieen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in
future will be required to be expensed. The impacthe results of operations of the Company willdependent on the number of opti
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginnindgdber 1, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 AS COMPARED TO THE FISCAL YEAR
ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2005

For the fiscal year ended September 30, 2006, wechasolidated total revenues of $24,487,215, coetpto consolidated total revenue:
$14,824,407 for the year ended September 30, 2085 consolidated total revenues for the period ren@eptember 30, 2005 did not incl
revenues from discontinued operations in the amofi$i672,265. This was an increase of $9,662,808dk8%. The increase in total rever
was primarily due to revenues generated in our dels, increases in revenues from our existings;laind an increase in revenues from
New York location as it has a full twelve monthsapferations in fiscal 2006 compared to only lessmthne month in fiscal 2005. Rever
from nightclub operations for same-location sameggeincreased by 25.12% and for Internet busireebyel.91%.

Our income from continuing operations before mityomterest for the year ended September 30, 2086 $1,721,377 compared to a los
$368,313 for the year ended September 30, 2005.ifdrease in income from continuing operations wemarily due to the increase
revenues from our existing clubs and from our NewvKvlocation as it has a full twelve months of agdems in fiscal 2006 compared to ¢
less than one month in fiscal 2005, offset by & lafsapproximately $330,000 from our newly acquichebs. Our net income from continu
operations for nightclub operations was $4,268,#86the year ended September 30, 2006 compared $1iffi21,264 for the year enc
September 30, 2005. Our net income from operafnsur Internet businesses was $138,351 for tlae gaded September 30, 2006 comp
with $114,501 for the year ended September 30, 2025 income from continuing operations for ourhi@ub operations for the same-
location-same-period increased by 51.26%. Ournmeme for our Internet operations for the same-gitdsame-period increased by 20.83%.
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Our cost of goods sold for the year ended SepteBte2006 was 11.91% of total revenues compard@ 80% of related revenues for the
ended September 30, 2005. The decrease was dugrifyito the overall reduction in cost of goodsdsmi our club and internet operations.
cost of goods sold for the nightclub operationstfar year ended September 30, 2006 was 12.17%rdbtal revenues from club operati
compared to 12.87% for the year ended Septembe2(I5. We continued our efforts to achieve redugtim cost of goods sold of the ¢
operations through improved inventory managemerd. alé continuing a program to improve margins fl@mor and food sales and fc
service efficiency. Our cost of sales from our tné&t operations for the year ended September 306 2&as 4.10% compared to 7.55%
related revenues for the year ended Septembet088, Ve have implemented measures to reduce expenear Internet operations.

Our payroll and related costs for the year endqute®eber 30, 2006 were $7,081,660 compared to $826Gor the year ended Septembe;
2005. The increase was primarily due to the in@aagpayroll in our New York club as it has a fulelve months of operations in fiscal 2!
compared to only less than one month in fiscal 2&@%in opening new clubs. Our payroll for our nighb operations for same-location-same-
period increased by 14.26%. The increase was piindure to increases in payroll in our Minnesotap@s Cabaret, and Onyx Houston cl
due to increases in revenues. Our payroll for frgepoperations increased by 15.33%. We believedinatabor and management staff levels

at appropriate levels.

Our other general and administrative expenseshiiyear ended September 30, 2006 were $11,498@6pared to $7,458,721 for the y
ended September 30, 2005. The increase was pryndard to the increase in taxes & permits, rentall€gprofessional, utilities, insurance, &
advertising & marketing expenses from opening nevations, from our existing clubs, and from our Néark location as it has a full twel
months of operations in fiscal 2006 compared ty ¢eds than one month in fiscal 2005. Other sellgeneral and administrative expense:
same-location-samgeriod for the nightclub operations increased byyQ%. The increase was primarily due to the in@éataxes & permit
rent, legal & professional, utilities, insurancedaadvertising & marketing expenses. Other sellggneral and administrative expenses
Internet operations decreased by 4.84%.

Our interest expense for the year ended Septenthe086 was $1,057,020 compared to $699,678 foye¢he ended September 30, 2005.

increase was primarily due to the increase in delglation to the purchase and renovation of NewkYclub. We have increased our long t
debt to $13,920,733 as of September 30, 2006 cadpardebt of $13,246,836 as of September 30, 2005.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As of September 30, 2006, we had a deficit in wagldapital of $2,264,101 compared to $2,047,72&f &ptember 30, 2005. Because o
large volume of cash we handle, stringent cashratenhave been implemented. The decrease was [ilsirdae to increases in current port
of long term debt and accrued expenses, offset tigcaease in accounts payable and increase inacaklbash equivalent. At September
2006, our cash and cash equivalents were $854@8pared to $480,330 at September 30, 2005.

Our depreciation for the year ended September @06 2vas $1,001,513 compared to $573,706 for the geded September 30, 2005.
amortization for the year ended September 30, 2236$47,734 compared to $16,760 for the periodeSeptember 30, 2005.

The following table presents a summary of our dasks from operating, investing, and financing sitigs:

Years ended September 30,

2006 2005
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 2,725,771 $ 2,090,03!
Net cash used in investing activiti (3,110,84) (6,307,50)
Net cash provided by financing activiti 759,67 4,801,19
Net cash used in discontinued operati (378,63))
Net increase in cash and cash equive $ 374,60: $ 205,08°

Net cash provided by operating activities in tharyended September 30, 2006 was $2,725,770 compar®?l 090,030 for the year en
September 30, 2005. The increase in cash provigegérating activities was primarily due to thergase in net income.

We used $3,110,840 of cash in investing activiiieghe year ended September 30, 2006 comparefl,89%,508 for the year ended Septer
30, 2005. $759,672 of cash was provided in finageiativities for the year ended in September 30628bmpared to $4,801,197 for the \
ended September 30, 2005.

We require capital principally for construction acquisition of new clubs, renovation of older cluib®l investments in technology. We
utilize capital to repurchase our common stockaas @ our share repurchase program.

We believe that the adult entertainment industgndard of treating entertainers as independentraciots provides us with safe har

protection to preclude payroll tax assessment far years. We have prepared plans that we bekgllgrotect our profitability in the eve
that sexually oriented business industry is reguineall states to convert dancers who are nowgaddent contractors into employees.
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The sexually oriented business industry is higldynpetitive with respect to price, service and lmrgtas well as the professionalism of
entertainers. Although we believe that we are \weHitioned to compete successfully in the futunere can be no assurance that we wi
able to maintain our high level of name recognitma prestige within the marketplace.

Debt Financing:

On November 15 and 17, 2004, we borrowed $590,0@0%$4.,042,000, respectively, from a financial ingibn at an annual interest rate
10% over a 10 year term. The monthly payments ofcpal and interest are $5,694 and $10,056, rés@de. The note is secured by
properties located at 2023 Sable Lane, San Antani at 410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E., Houston, Tegas.November 30, 2004, 1
borrowed $900,000 from an unrelated individuahat tate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thethiyp payment of principal and inter
is $9,290. The note is secured by our propertieaténl at 3501 Andtree, Austin and at 5718 Fairdddeiston, Texas. On December 30, 2
we borrowed $1,270,000 from a financial institutadran annual interest rate of 10% over a 10 yg¥ar.tThe monthly payment of principal
interest is $12,256. The note is secured by oupgrty located at 3113 Bering Drive, Houston, TeXd®e money received from this financ
was used for the acquisition and renovation ofNbe/ York club.

We entered into a promissory note on January 185 2for $5,125,000 bearing simple interest at ite of 4.0% per annum with a ballc
payment at the end of five years, part of whichdavertible to restricted shares of our commonkstigrices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50

share. As of September 30, 2006, $1,925,000 gbtineipal had been converted into 350,000 sharesipfestricted common stock.

On June 10, 2005, we entered into a promissory fioot$325,000 bearing interest at a rate of 7%gmeum for a seven year term. The no
secured by liens upon the assets of and hereafjeirad assets of RCI Entertainment (North Cardlifre.

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $100,000 from anlatectindividual at an annual interest rate of 1dér 10 year term.

In July 2005, we received additional borrowingghie amount of $100,000 from the same unrelatedidgial who advanced $100,000 in J
2005, and with whom we had two existing notes. fEnm is for 10 years and the interest rate is 1&¥@pnum. On August 15, 2005, the n
were amended and the amounts from June and Ju,20) were included in one of the notes, for mltioed total of $1,341,520.34 pay:

to this individual.

In January 2006, we paid off our borrowing with ¥®iMedia.
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On February 6, 2006, we issued a Convertible Deiverfthe “Debenture™o an unrelated investment group for the princgah of $1,000,9¢
bearing interest at the rate of 10% per annum, withaturity date of February 1, 2009. Under thengeof the Debenture, we are require
make three quarterly interest payments beginning Ma2006. Thereafter, we are required to make eopeal quarterly principal and inter
payments. At any time after 366 days from the d&issuance of this Debenture, we have the righetizem the Debenture in whole or in
during the term of the Debenture. At the electibthe holder, the holder has the right at any timeonvert all or any portion of the principa
interest amount of the Debenture into shares otoormon stock at a rate of $4.75 per share, whpghcximates the closing price of our st
on February 6, 2006. The proceeds of the Debentareused to payoff certain debt and increase working capitad.o& June 30, 2006, t
holder had elected to convert $22,938 of intergst 4,829 shares of restricted common stock.

In March 2006, we paid off our borrowing from arrelated individual on the property in Brazoria Ctyun

On August 24, 2006, our subsidiary, RCI Debit Sazsj Inc., acquired 99% of the ownership intenestni adult entertainment cabaret kn
as “Centerfolds”located at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeAaslitionally, under the terms of the transactiony subsidiary, R(
Holdings, Inc. acquired 100% of the interest in itn@roved real property upon which Centerfoldsoisalted. The total purchase price for
business and real property was $2,900,000. Undeastef the agreement, we paid the owners of thie ahd property $600,000 in cash at
time of closing and signed promissory notes forréraaining balance. In addition, certain memberthefcurrent ownership structure enter
five-year covenant not to compete with us.

Financing from related parties:

On June 17, 2005, we borrowed $160,000 from a bb#ter at an annual interest rate of 12% over 3 teren.

On July 22, 2005, we entered into a secured coblerdebenture with a greater than 10% sharehddea principal sum of $660,000, wh
includes the loan on June 17, 2005, in the amou$160,000. The term is for three years and ther@st rate is 12% per annum. The debe
matures on August 1, 2008. We also issued 50,00fanis at $3.00 per share in relation to this delven The debenture is secured by
ownership in Citation Land, LLC and RCI Holdings¢l, both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible debees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, fc
principal sum of $825,000. The term is for two yeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieh of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitations) @ any portion of the principal amount of theb@atures into shares of our common stock
rate of $6.55 per share, which approximates thsimdpprice of our stock on April 28, 2006. The defoees provide, absent shareho
approval, that the number of shares of our comnackghat may be issued by us or acquired by theehns upon conversion of the debent
shall not exceed 19.99% of the total number ofdédsand outstanding shares of our common stock.,880®f the debentures is secured by
property located at 9009 Airport Blvd., Houstonx@s. The proceeds of the debentures were uselddacijuisition of Joint Ventures, Inc.
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Subsequent to fiscal year end, on November 9, 2@@6entered into convertible debentures with thsleareholders for a principal sum
$600,000. The term is for two years and the inteae is 12% per annum. At the election of thedbrd, the holders have the right to cor
(subject to certain limitations) all or any portiohthe principal amount of the debentures intaoshaf our common stock at a rate of $7.5(
share, which was higher than the closing priceuwfstock on November 9, 2006. The debentures pepweitisent shareholder approval, tha
number of shares of our common stock that may sieeid by us or acquired by the holders upon coraeish the debentures shall not exc
19.99% of the total number of issued and outstandirares of our common stock. The proceeds ofeébertdures were used for the acquis
of a 51% ownership interest of Playmates Gentleméfub LLC.

Contractual obligations and commitments

We have long term contractual obligations primanilythe form of operating lease and debt obligatiorhe following table summarizes
contractual obligations and their aggregate madsris well as future minimum rent payments:

Operating Leas Debt(1) Total
2007 $ 974,84 $ 2,278,31 $ 3,253,16:
2008 998,91« 5,017,32: 6,016,24;
2009 884,11« 1,252,29: 2,136,41
2010 653,88: 662,12: 1,316,00
2011 654,09: 1,065,90! 1,719,99
Thereafter 7,999,66: 3,644,76 11,644,43

$ 12,165,51 $ 13,920,73 $ 26,086,24.
(1) The interest obligation on debt is not included

We are not aware of any other event or trend ttaatldvpotentially affect liquidity. In the event $ue trend develops, we believe our worl
capital and capital expenditure requirements wélladolequately met by cash flows from operationguinopinion, working capital is not a ti
indicator of our financial status. Typically, bussses in our industry carry current liabilitiesektess of current assets because businesses
industry receive substantially immediate paymemtsiles, with nominal receivables, while inventsrand other current liabilities norme
carry longer payment terms. Vendors and purveyfenoremain flexible with payment terms, providibgsinesses in our industry w
opportunities to adjust to short-term business dtuwvns. We consider the primary indicators of ficiah status to be the lortgrm trend c
revenue growth, the mix of sales revenues, oveaalh flow, and profitability from operations ane fevel of long-term debt.
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The following table presents a summary of suchciaidirs:

% %

Years ended September 30, 2006 increase 2005 increase 2004

Sales of alcoholic beverage $ 8,781,63 61.6¢ $ 5,431,04 1.6 $ 5,343,85
Sales of food and merchandise 2,651,861 57.0¢ 1,688,04. 6.71 1,581,85:
Service revenues 11,442,37 72.52 6,632,20. 13.5¢ 5,839,75!
Internet revenues 801,39! 1.74 787,61 1.0¢ 796,35:
Other 809,94t 104.2% 396,49° 33.6i 296,61
Total revenues $ 24,487,21 65.1¢ $ 14,824,40 6.97 $ 13,858,43
Net cash provided by operating activit 2,725,717 2,090,03! 736,30¢
Net income (loss 1,752,71. (215,149 775,25!
Long term debt 13,920,73 13,246,83 3,693,56!

We have not established lines of credit or finagother than the above mentioned notes payableoanexisting debt. There can be
assurance that we will be able to obtain additidimaincing on reasonable terms in the future, dlatshould the need arise.

Share repurchase

On September 16, 2003, the Company was authorigéd board of directors to repurchase up to aritael $500,000 worth of our comm
stock. No shares have been purchased under tinis pla

IMPACT OF INFLATION

We have not experienced a material overall impamhfinflation in our operations during the pastesal years. To the extent permittec
competition, we have managed to recover increassts through price increases and may continue sodblowever, there can be no assur
that we will be able to do so in the future.

SEASONALITY

Our nightclub operations are affected by seasazbfs. Historically, we have experienced redu@amues from April through Septem

with the strongest operating results occurringmw®ctober through March. Our experience indictias there are no seasonal fluctuatior
our Internet activities.
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GROWTH STRATEGY

We believe that our nightclub operations can camito grow organically and through careful entripimarkets and demographic segm
with high growth potential. Our growth strategy (&) to open new clubs after careful market re¢edty) to acquire existing clubs in locati
that are consistent with our growth and incomeetr@nd which appear receptive to the upscalefolmula we have developed, as is the

with the acquisition of the New York club and cluios Charlotte, South Houston, San Antonio and Aysfc) to form joint ventures

partnerships to reduce stam-and operating costs, with us contributing eqintyhe form of our brand name and management &gpefd) t(
develop new club concepts that are consistenteuittmanagement and marketing skills, and/or (@ctpuire real estate in connection with «
operations, although some clubs may be in leasstipes.

During fiscal 2006, we acquired three existing méfiib operations for a total cost of $3,865,000e§eh acquisitions were funded prime
through indebtedness, $3,195,000, and cash, $687.0T0@se nightclub operations had total revenuegppfoximately $370,000 and net los
approximately $330,000.

During fiscal 2005, we acquired two existing nidhkbc operations for a total cost of $8,775,000. Bhasquisitions were funded prima
through indebtedness, $8,862,000, and issuancerakstricted common stocks, $675,000. Part ofridebtedness was used for renovatic
the clubs. During fiscal 2006, $1,925,000 of thdebtedness was converted into 350,000 shares ofestricted common stock. Thi
nightclub operations had total revenues of appraaty $7,400,000 and $1,100,000 during fiscal 2806 2005, respectively, and net inct
of approximately $635,000 during fiscal 2006 antlloss of approximately $983,000 during fiscal 2005

We continue to evaluate opportunities to acquing nghtclubs and anticipate acquiring new locatitmet fit our business model as we t
done in the past.

We also expect to continue to grow our Internefipoenters. We plan to focus on highargin Internet activities that leverage our marig
skills while requiring a low level of stattp cost and ongoing operating costs and refinetand our Internet sites for better positionin
organic search rankings amongst the major seambidars. We will restructure affiliate programsgmvide higher incentives to our curr
affiliates to better promote our Internet sitesjlevactively seeking new affiliates to send trafficour Internet sites.

The acquisition of additional clubs and/or interaperations will require us to obtain additionabder issuance of our common stock, or t

There can be no assurance that we will be ablétmadditional financing on reasonable termsanfuture, if at all, should the need arise
inability to obtain such additional financing couldve an adverse effect on our growth strategy.
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ITEM 7. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The information required by this Item 7 is includedhis report beginning on page F-1.

ITEM 8. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

There have been no changes in or disagreementsedgthuntants on accounting and financial disclasure

ITEM 8A . CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

As of the end of the period of this report, oumpipal executive and principal financial officemgad out an evaluation of the effectivenes
the design and operation of our disclosure contesld procedures. This evaluation was carried ogeunhe supervision and with -
participation of our management, including our CHixecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. & on that evaluation, our Ct
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer comded that our disclosure controls and proceduresetective in timely alerting them
material information required to be included in ttempanys periodic reports to the Securities and Exchangmar@ission. During the four
fiscal quarter, there were no changes in our iaecontrol over financial reporting that has mathyi affected, or is reasonably likely
materially affect the small business issuer’s imycontrol over financial reporting.

ITEM 8B . OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART 1l
ITEM9. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, PROMOTERS AND CONTRO L PERSONS; COMPLIANCE WITH

SECTION 16(A) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Our Directors are elected annually and hold officdil the next annual meeting of our stockholdersiatil their successors are elected
qualified. Officers are elected annually and sewéhe discretion of the Board of Directors. Thisr@o family relationship between or am

any of our directors and executive officers. OurmBbof Directors consists of five persons. Thedfelhg table sets forth our Directors
executive officers:
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Name Age Position

Eric S. Langan 38 Director, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, Presitiand Principal
Financial Officer

Travis Reese 37 Director and V.P.-Director of Technology

Robert L. Watters 55 Director

Alan Bergstrom 61 Director

Steven Jenkins 49 Director

Eric S. Langan has been a Director since 1998 an®resident since March 1999. Mr. Langan is alsoGhief Financial Officer. He has be
involved in the adult entertainment business sit@@9. From January 1997 through the present, hddldsthe position of President of X
Cabaret, Inc. From November 1992 until January 19887 Langan was the President of Bathing Beaufias, Since 1989, Mr. Langan |
exercised managerial control over more than a dezkdt entertainment businesses. Through theseitedj Mr. Langan has acquired
knowledge and skills necessary to successfullyaiperdult entertainment businesses.

Robert L. Watters is our founder and has been arecdr since 1986. Mr. Watters was our Presidewt eur Chief Executive Officer fro
1991 until March 1999. Since 1999, Mr. Watters loamed and operated Rick’Cabaret, an adult entertainment club in New @d
Louisiana, which licenses our name. He was alsmuader in 1989 and operator until 1993 of the GadorBar & Grill, an adult club located
Houston, Texas and in 1988 performed site selectiegotiated the property purchase and oversawlébign and permitting for the club t
became the Cabaret Royale, in Dallas, Texas. Mitafgapracticed law as a solicitor in London, Endland is qualified to practice law in N
York. Mr. Watters worked in the international tabogp of the accounting firm of Touche, Ross & Qmw succeeded by Deloitte & Touc
from 1979 to 1983 and was engaged in the privaetise of law in Houston, Texas from 1983 to 1986en he became involved in our full-
time management. Mr. Watters graduated from thedbanSchool of Economics and Political Science, ¥rsity of London, in 1973 with
Bachelor of Laws (Honours) degree and in 1975 wiMaster of Laws degree from Osgoode Hall Law Skhaark University.

Steven L. Jenkins has been a Director since Juf&. Zince 1988, Mr. Jenkins has been a certifiddip@accountant with Pringle Jenkins
Associates, P.C., located in Houston, Texas. Mikids is the President and owner of Pringle JenKinsssociates, P.C. Mr. Jenkins he
BBA Degree (1979) from Texas A&M University. Mr.nléns is a member of the AICPA and the TSCPA.

Alan Bergstrom became our Director in 1999. Sing®871 Mr. Bergstrom has been the Chief Operatingc®ffof Eagle Securities, which is
investment consulting firm. Mr. Bergstrom is alsoegistered stockbroker with Rhodes Securities, Fitom 1991 until 1997, Mr. Bergstr
was a Vice Presidentrvestments with Principal Financial Securities;.IMr. Bergstrom holds a B.B.A. Degree in Finant@67, from th
University of Texas.
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Travis Reese became our Director and \DRector of Technology in 1999. From 1997 throud®9, Mr. Reese had been a senior net
administrator at St. Vincent's Hospital in Santa Rew Mexico. During 1997, Mr. Reese was a compsaystems engineer with Deloitte
Touche. From 1995 until 1997, Mr. Reese was Viasigent with Digital Publishing Resources, Inc. l@ernet service provider. From 1¢
until 1995, Mr. Reese was a pilot with Continendétlines. From 1992 until 1994, Mr. Reese was aftpivith Hang On, Inc., an airlii
company. Mr. Reese has an Associates Degree imAatigal Science from Texas State Technical College

There is no family relationship between or among @four directors and executive officers.
COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

We have an Audit Committee of independent directah®se members are Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergs@od Steven Jenkins. In v
2000, our Board of Directors adopted a ChartettierAudit Committee. The Charter establishes tdependence of our Audit Committee
sets forth the scope of our Audit Committee's dutiehe purpose of our Audit Committee is to condumttinuing oversight of our financ
affairs. Our Audit Committee conducts an ongoingew of our financial reports and other financialdrmation prior to their being filed wi
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or otherpisvided to the public. Our Audit Committee atswiews our systems, methods
procedures of internal controls in the areas ofaricial reporting, audits, treasury operationspemte finance, managerial, financial and !
accounting, compliance with law, and ethical cond@ur Audit Committee is objective, and reviews @ssesses the work of our indepen
registered public accounting firm.

All of our Audit Committee members are independeiectors. The Board of Directors elects the memlzérour Audit Committee annual
The members serve until their successors are dedyeel and qualified. All members of the Audit Coittee are free from any relationship 1
could conflict with member's independent judgméiitmembers are able to read and understand fundeainfinancial statements, includin
balance sheet, income statement, and cash floenstat. At least one member has past employmentrierpe in finance or accountit
requisite professional certification in accounting,other comparable experience or backgroundudicty a current or past position as a ¢
executive or financial officer or other senior offi with financial oversight responsibilities. S¢éew.. Jenkins serves as Chairman of the /
Committee, having been elected by the members oAadit Committee. Steven L. Jenkins serves asAtindit Committee$ Financial Expel
having been elected by a unanimous vote of the reesndsf our Audit Committee. The Audit Committee @bawas previously filed as
exhibit to our Proxy Statement filed with the Seties and Exchange Commission on June 3, 2005,candbe found on our website
www.ricks.com.
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We have a Nominating Committee composed of indepeindirectors Robert L. Watters, Alan Bergstrom &telven L. Jenkins. In July 20
the Board unanimously adopted a Charter with retr@ate process to be used for identifying and eatithg nominees for director. The Cha
establishes the independence of our Nominating Gteenand sets forth the scope of the Nominatingh@dtee's duties. The Nominati
Committee Charter can be found on our website atnkiaks.com.

We have a Compensation Committee whose memberfalvert Watters, Alan Bergstrom and Steven L. JemkiPecisions concerni
executive officer compensation for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2006, were made by the Contjsen€ammittee. The primary purpc
of the Compensation Committee is to evaluate amigwethe compensation of executive officers.

COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXC HANGE ACT OF 1934

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of418fjuires our directors and executive officersl parsons who own beneficially more t
ten percent of our common stock, to file report®whership and changes of ownership with the Seesirand Exchange Commission. Be
solely on the reports we have received and onewritepresentations from certain reporting persaespelieve that the directors, execu
officers, and greater than ten percent beneficialays have complied with all applicable filing régunents, with the exception of two filin
for Ralph McElroy, a greater than 10% shareholder.

CODE OF ETHICS

We have adopted a code of ethics for our Prindipacutive and Senior Financial Officers, which vpasviously filed as Exhibit 14 to ¢
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended Septembe2803, as filed with the SEC on December 29, 2003.

ITEM 10. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table reflects all forms of comperisatfor services to us for the fiscal years endept@mber 30, 2006, 2005 and 2004 of ce
executive officers. No other executive officer of ours received compdios that exceeded $100,000 during fiscal 2005. Mingan i

Chairman of the Board, a Director, Chief Execut®#icer, President and Chief Financial Officer. NReese is Director and V.Pirector o
Technology.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

Annual Compensation

Long Term Compensation

Awards Payouts
Other Securities
Annual Restricted Underlying All Other
Compen- Stock Options/ LTIP Compen-
Name and Salary Bonus sation (1) Awards SARs Payouts sation
Principal Position Year %) (6] (%) (6] #) (6)] (6]
Eric Langan
200¢€ $ 395,30( -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200t $ 344,10( -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200¢ $ 326,03t -0- -0- -0- 280,00( -0- -0-
Mr. Langan is our Chairman, a Director, Chief Exa@iOfficer, President and Chief Financial Offic
Travis Reese
200¢ $ 167,20: -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200t $ 165,53: -0- -0- -0- 5,00( -0- -0-
200 $ 161,00( -0- -0- -0- 55,00( -0- -0-

Mr. Reese is a Director and V.P.-Director of Tedbgg

(1) We provide certain executive officers certain peeddenefits. Since the value of such benefits do¢exceed the lesser of $50,00
10% of annual compensation, the amounts are omitted

OPTION/SAR GRANTS IN LAST FISCAL YEAR (Individual G rants)

Number of Percent of Total

Securities Options/SARs

Underlying Granted To

Options/SARs Employees In Exercise of Expiration
Name Granted Fiscal Year Base Price Date
# % $/share

Eric Langan 5,000 shares ) 125% $ 6.7 5/31/201:
Travis Reese 5,000 shares ) 125% $ 6.7¢ 5/31/201:

(1) These options were granted to Messrs. LangdrRaese for serving in their capacity as Directartotal of 17,500 stock options
were exercised by Messrs. Langan and Reese diménijstal year ended September 30, 2006.

44




Table of Content

AGGREGATED OPTION/SAR EXERCISES IN
LAST FISCAL YEAR AND FY-END OPTION/SAR VALUES

Number Of
Unexercised
Securities Underl Value of Unexerc
Options/SARs In-The-Money Optio
Shares At FY-End SARs At FY-End
Acquired On Value Exercisable/ Exercisable/
Name Exercise Realized Unexercisable Unexercisable
# $ # $

Eric Langan 5,000 () $ 21,50( 390,000/ 5,00 $ 1,141,600/ $
Travis Reese 12,500 (2) $ 52,21¢ 65,000 / 5,00 $ 190,850/ $
Q) A total of 17,500 stock options were exerdibg these persons during the fiscal year endete8der 30, 2006

DIRECTOR COMPENSATION

We do not currently pay any cash directors' feeswe pay the expenses of our directors in attendimard meetings. In May 31, 2006,
issued 10,000 options to each Director who is a begrof our audit committee and 5,000 options toaher Directors. These options ha
strike price of $6.75 per share and expire in May12

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

We have a ongear employment agreement with Mr. Eric S. Langhe (Langan Agreement"). The Langan Agreement egédhrough Apr
1, 2008 and provides for an annual base salary460$00. The Langan Agreement also provides fotigiation in all benefit plar
maintained by us for salaried employees. The Lamggmreement contains a confidentiality provision ardagreement by Mr. Langan no
compete with us upon the expiration of the Langgne&ment. We have not established Itergn incentive plans or defined benefit or actu
plans.

We also have a thregzar employment agreement with Mr. Travis Reese (fReese Agreement"). The Reese Agreement extémdsgt
February 1, 2007 and provides for an annual bdseysaf $175,000. The Reese Agreement also provioleparticipation in all benefit pla
maintained by us for salaried employees. The Réggeement contains a confidentiality provision aard agreement by Mr. Reese na
compete with us upon the expiration of the Reeseégent.

We have not established long-term incentive plardefined benefit or actuarial plans.
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ITEM 11. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED

STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth certain informatianDecember 15, 2006, with respect to the benéfieiaership of shares of Common Stocl
(i) each person known to us who owns beneficiallyrenthan 5% of the outstanding shares of CommookSt@) each of our directors, (i
each of our executive officers and (iv) all of axecutive officers and directors as a group. Unteksrwise indicated, each stockholder
sole voting and investment power with respect ®shares shown. As of December 15, 2006, there 888,515 shares of common st

outstanding.

Name/Address

Number of shares

Title of class

Percent of Clas&€®

Eric S. Langan
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

1,189,865%

Common stock

22.3%

Robert L. Watters
315 Bourbon Street
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130

35,0001

Common stock

0.7%

Steven L. Jenkins
16815 Royal Crest Drive
Suite 160

Houston, Texas 77058

10,0003

Common stock

0.2%

Travis Reese
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

74,7759

Common stock

1.4%

Alan Bergstrom
904 West Avenue, Suite 100
Austin, Texas 78701

25,0009

Common stock

0.5%

All of our Directors and Officers as a Group ofdiv
persons

1,334,640°

Common stock

25.1%

E. S. Langan. L.P.
505 North Belt, Suite 630
Houston, Texas 77060

578,632

Common stock

10.9%

Ralph McElroy
1211 Choquette
Austin, Texas, 78757

728,9137)

Common stock

13.7%

Blair Sanford
One Market Street Suite 3750
San Francisco, CA 94105

494,557(®)

Common stock

9.3%

Jeffrey Benton
47 Summit Ave.
Summit, NJ

283,1159)

Common stock

5.3%

(1) Mr. Langan has sole voting and investment pofeei321,233 shares that he owns directly. Mr. laangas shared voting and investn
power for 578,632 shares that he owns indirectlgugh E. S. Langan, L.P. Mr. Langan is the gengaainer of E. S. Langan, L.P. This amc

also includes options to purchase up to 290,00fesha common stock that are presently exercisable.

(2) Includes options to purchase up to 30,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
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(3) Includes options to purchase up to 10,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(4) Includes options to purchase up to 65,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(5) Includes options to purchase up to 20,000 shafreommon stock that are presently exercisable.
(6) Includes options to purchase up to 415,000eshaf common stock that are presently exercisable.

(7) Includes 678,913 shares of common stock an@0BOwarrants to purchase shares of common stotlathgpresently exercisable at $:
per share. This number specifically excludes sharelerlying two convertible debentures totaling2$0,000 which convertible at prices
$3.00 ($660,000) and $6.55 ($600,000), subjectdmsément under certain conditions. The terms othbdebentures provide, abs
shareholder approval, that the number of sharesioEommon stock that may be issued to or acqudyellir. McElroy upon conversion of a
debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of the total murabissued and outstanding shares of our comruomk.s

(8) Includes 298,686 shares of common stock hel@inyingame Equity Investors, LP, 40,540 sharesafimon stock held by Burlingal
Equity Investors I, LP, and 155,331 shares of cammatock held by Burlingame Equity Investors (Offisd) Ltd. Mr. Blair Sanford is tt
managing member of Burlingame Asset Management Witiich is the general partner of Burlingame Equiityestors, LP, Burlingame Equ
Investors Il, LP, and Burlingame Equity Investa®¥f6hore) Ltd.

(9) Includes 61,851 shares of common stock heltVithgially, 210,726 shares of common stock held ey by Fairfield Investment Gro
LLC that are issuable upon the conversion of a edible debenture, and 10,538 held indirectly byrfiledd Investment Group LLC. M
Jeffrey Benton is the Managing Director of Faidiéldvisors and has investment decision and votirtgaity for this entity.

(10) These percentages exclude treasury sharke iratculation of percentage of class.

We are not aware of any arrangements that couldtiesa change of control.

The disclosure required by Item 201(d) of Reguta®eB is set forth in ITEM 5 herein.

ITEM 12 . CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Our Board of Directors has adopted a policy thatlmusiness affairs will be conducted in all respdnt standards applicable to publicly t
corporations and that we will not enter into anjyufe transactions and/or loans between us and ffigers, directors and 5% shareholc
unless the terms are no less favorable than coeldltained from independent, third parties and @l approved by a majority of ¢
independent and disinterested directors. In ouww védl of the transactions described below meet skdndard.

In May 2002, we loaned $100,000 to Eric Langan vwghour Chief Executive Officer. The promissory nigeinsecured, bears interest at .
and is amortized over a period of ten years. The nontains a provision that in the event Mr. Lantgaves the Company for any reason
note immediately becomes due and payable in fhke Balance of the note was $70,208 at Septemb@086, and is included in other asse
our balance sheet.
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On July 22, 2005, we issued a Secured Convertibleebture to Ralph McElroy (the Holder), a gredt@ant10% shareholder, for the princ
sum of $660,000 bearing interest at the rate of p2¥@annum, with a maturity date of August 1, 2008der the terms of the Debenture, we
required to make monthly interest payments begm&aptember 1, 2005. We have the right to redeendébenture in whole or in part at
time during the term of the Debenture. At the étecbf the Holder, the Holder has the right to rieggthe Debenture to be repaid in thirty (
equal monthly installments commencing February 200 Holder has the option to convert all or anytipn of the principal amount of t
Debenture into shares of our common stock at aofa$8.00 per share, subject to adjustment undgaioeconditions. The Debenture provic
absent shareholder approval, that the number eésltd our common stock that may be issued by asquired by the Holder upon convers
of the Debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of thed taimber of issued and outstanding shares of @mnwn stock. The Debenture is sec
by certain of our assets. Additionally, we issued McElroy warrants to purchase 50,000 shares oftommon stock at an exercise pric
$3.00 per share until July 22, 2008. The share€ahmon Stock underlying the principal amount of Bebenture and the Warrants
piggyback registration rights and became registerid SEC on September 1, 2005.

On April 28, 2006, we entered into convertible debees with three shareholders, one of which igeatgr than 10% shareholder, fc
principal sum of $825,000. The term is for two yeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. At thetieh of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitationg) @ any portion of the principal amount of theb@atures intshares of our common stock i
rate of $6.55 per share, which approximates theimjpprice of our stock on April 28, 2006. The defoees provide, absent shareho
approval, that the number of shares of our comntackghat may be issued by us or acquired by theéens upon conversion of the debent
shall not exceed 19.99% of the total number ofédsand outstanding shares of our common stocksfiaees of Common Stock underlying
principal amount of the debentures had piggybagistetion rights and were registered with SECLUneJ2006. The proceeds of the deben
were used for the acquisition Joint Ventures, Inc.

Subsequent to fiscal year end, on November 9, 2@@6entered into convertible debentures with theleareholders for a principal sum
$600,000. The term is for two years and the intei@e is 12% per annum. At the election of thedbrd, the holders have the right to cor
(subject to certain limitations) all or any portiohthe principal amount of the debentures intaeti@f our common stock at a rate of $7.5(
share, which was higher than the closing priceusfstock on November 9, 2006. The debentures pepwtisent shareholder approval, tha
number of shares of our common stock that may sieeid by us or acquired by the holders upon coraeish the debentures shall not exc
19.99% of the total number of issued and outstandirares of our common stock. The proceeds ofeébertdures were used for the acquis
of a 51% ownership interest of Playmates Gentlesn@tb LLC.
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ITEM 13. EXHIBITS
Exhibit 14 - Code of Ethics.
Exhibit 21 - Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Exhibit 31.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corpaatrequired by Rule 1324(1) or Rul
15d - 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarb@axley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.1 - Certification of Chief Executive @fér of Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc. Corporation pursuan§ection 906 of tt
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and Section 1350 of IBCl 63.
ITEM 14 . PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
The following table sets forth the aggregate fegid pr accrued for professional services rendeyehitley Penn LLP for the audit

our annual financial statements for fiscal year@80d fiscal year 2005 and the aggregate feesguaadcrued for auditelated services and
other services rendered by Whitley Penn LLP fardigyear 2006 and fiscal year 2005.

2006 2005
Audit fees $ 97,76¢ $ 137,52¢
Audit-related fees 16,21( 8,10¢
Tax fees 3,85( 12,55(
All other fees - -
Total $ 117,82¢ $ 158,18!

The category of “Audit fees” includes fees for amnual audit, quarterly reviews and services rexaiar connection with regulatory
filings with the SEC, such as the issuance of cotiétters and consents.

The category of “Audit-related fees” includes enygle benefit plan audits, internal control reviewd accounting consultation.

The category of “Tax fees” includes consultatiolated to corporate development activities.

All above audit services, audit-related serviced tax services were p@approved by the Audit Committee, which concludeat tine
provision of such services by Whitley Penn LLP wampatible with the maintenance of that fimindependence in the conduct of its aud

functions. The Audit Committee’s outside auditodeépendence policy provides for papproval of all services performed by the out
auditors.
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SIGNATURES

In accordance with the requirements of Sectionfl¢d) of the Exchange Act, the Registrant hasedtthis report to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrine December 27, 2006.

Rick's Cabaret International, Inc.

/sl Eric S. Langan

By: Eric S. Langan

Director, Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Exchange Aigtréport has been signed below by the followiagspns in the capacities and on
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/sl Eric S. Langan

Eric S. Langan Director, Chief Executive Officer, President andeth December 27, 2006
Financial Officer

/sl Travis Reese
Travis Reese Director and V.P.-Director of Technology December 27, 2006

/s/ Robert L. Watters
Robert L. Watters Director December 24, 2006

s/ Alan Bergstrom
Alan Bergstrom Director December 26, 2006

/s/ Steven Jenkins
Steven Jenkins Director December 22, 2006
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Rick’s Cabaret International, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgheets of Rick’ Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiariesf&eptember 30, 20
and 2005, and the related consolidated statemémnisenations, changes in stockholdegquity, and cash flows for the years then endedst
financial statements are the responsibility of @empanys management. Our responsibility is to express @nian on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBlaUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to obta@asonable assurance about whether the finastaééments are free of mate
misstatement. The Company is not required to hawewere we engaged to perform, an audit of itsrivdl control over financial reporting. .
audit includes consideration of internal controbo¥inancial reporting as a basis for designingitaptbcedures that are appropriate in
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaing&snal control over financial reportir
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autfibancludes examining, on a test basis, evidenpparting the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptimgiples used and significant estimates made byagement, as well as evaluating
overall financial statement presentation. We belithat our audits provide a reasonable basis foopimion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referrechbove present fairly, in all material respedtg tonsolidated financial position of Rigk’
Cabaret International, Inc. and subsidiaries aSeytember 30, 2006 and 2005, and the consolidatedts of their operations and their ¢
flows for the years then ended in conformity witit@unting principles generally accepted in the &bhiStates of America.

/s Whitley Penn LLI
Dallas, Texas
December 8, 2006
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable:
Trade
Other, net
Marketable securities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

Other assets:
Goodwill and indefinite lived intangibles
Definite lived intangibles, net
Other

Total other assets
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Current portion of long-term debt
Line-of-credit
Total current liabilities

Other long-term liabilities
Long-term debt-related party
Long-term debt

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

Minority interest

Temporary equity - Common stock, subject to puttsg 160,000 and 180,000 shares, respectivel

Permanent stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $.10 par, 1,000,000 shares aa#thrnone outstanding
Common stock, $.01 par, 15,000,000 shares autlhriz805,275 and 5,040,678 shares issued,

respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit

Less 908,530 shares of common stock held in trgaaticost

Total stockholders' equity

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

September 30,

2006 2005
854,93. $ 480,33
192,38! 310,69:
186,55« 118,87.

22,24t 28,91¢
291,62: 257,62t
140,42 87,99:
1,688,16 1,284,43

17,423,84 13,416,75

10,505,45 9,836,56!
525,07¢ 126,26.
460,33’ 365,01:

11,490,86 10,327,83

30,602,87 $ 25,029,01
554,97¢ $ 1,034,50i

1,118,97. 852,86!
2,278,31! 1,349,89.
- 94,88
3,952,26: 3,332,15!
299,70: 193,64¢
1,386,90! -
10,255,50 11,896,94
15,894,38 15,422,74
- 31,33"

800,00( 675,00(
58,05 50,40°
15,586,23 12,331,36
8,89¢ 15,57:

(450,919) (2,203,63)

15,202,26 10,193,71
1,293,78! 1,293,78!
13,908,48 8,899,93




Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $ 3060287 $  25,029,01

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Continuing operations:
Revenues:
Sales of alcoholic beverages
Sales of food and merchandise
Service revenues
Internet revenues
Other

Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Cost of goods sold

Salaries and wages

Other general and administrative:
Taxes and permits
Charge card fees
Rent
Legal and professional
Advertising and marketing
Depreciation and amortization
Insurance
Utilities
Other
Goodwill impairment

Total operating expenses

Income from continuing operations
Other income (expense):

Interest income

Interest expense

Loss on sales of assets
Other

Income (loss) from continuing operations beforeaniy interest
Minority interest

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Discontinued operations:

Loss from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of a subsidiary

Income from discontinued operations

Net income (loss

Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005
8,781,63! 5,431,04
2,651,86:i 1,688,04:

11,442,37 6,632,20.

801,39 787,61
809,94 285,49

24,487,21 14,824,40
2,915,31; 1,865,63!
7,081,661 5,200,97!
3,074,57 1,985,98"

485,34 229,39
1,150,33: 558,43
865,11 685,29
1,176,27 752,86
1,049,24 590,46t
420,45 218,34
621,05 392,58
2,576,62: 2,045,34!
79,84 -

21,495,83 14,525,32

2,991,38, 299,08
25,79¢ 33,43
(1,057,02) (699,67¢)
(68,139 -
(170,64() (1,149)
1,721,37 (368,31)
31,33 9,477
1,752,71. (358,84
- (148,29))

- 291,98

- 143,69:
1,752,71.  $ (215,149




Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income from discontinued operations
Net income (loss), basic

Net income (loss), diluted

Weighted average number of common shares outsigndin
Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsents.

$ 03¢ $ (0.09)
$ -3 0.0<
$ 03¢ $ (0.05)
$ 03¢ $ (0.08)
4,640,49 3,937,56!
5,065,96: 3,937,56!
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PERMANENT STO CKHOLDERS' EQUITY

YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2006 and 2005

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Treasury Stock Total
Number Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulated Number Stockholders
of
of Shares Amount  Capital Income Deficit Shares Amount Equity

Balance at September 30, 2004 4,608,67: $46,087 $11,273,14' $

109,00: $ (1,988,48) 908,53($(1,293,78)$ 8,145,97

Shares issued 612,00 6,12C 1,624,76. - - - - 1,630,88.
Stock warrants issued - - 106,65t - - - - 106,65t
Reclassification of temporary equ

- common stock subject to put

rights (180,000 (1,800 (673,200 - - - - (675,000
Net loss - - - - (215,149 - - (215,149
Change in available-for-sale

securities - - - (93,43() - - - (93,430
Comprehensive loss - - - - - - - (308,579

Balance at September 30, 2005 5,040,67: 50,407 12,331,36 15,57 (2,203,630 908,53( (1,293,78) 8,899,933

Shares issued 744,59 7,44¢ 3,326,21I - - - - 3,333,65!
Beneficial conversion - - 53,85¢ - - - - 53,85¢
Change in temporary equity -

common stock subject to put

rights 20,00( 20C (125,200 - - - - (125,000)
Net income - - - - 1,752,71. - - 1,752,71.
Change in available-for-sale

securities - - - (6,679 - - - (6,679
Comprehensive income - - - - - - - 1,746,041

Balance at September 30, 2006 5,805,27! $ 58,05 $15,586,23 $ 8,89¢$ (450,916 908,53($(1,293,78)$% 13,908,48

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitsents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

Adjustments to reconcile income (loss) from conitiguoperations to net cash provided by oper:

activities:

Depreciation

Amortization

Bad debts

Goodwill impairment

Beneficial conversion

Common stock issued for interest payment

Amortization of note discount

Loss on sales of assets

Minority interests

Deferred rent

Common stock issued for professional services

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired
Proceeds from sale of discontinued operations
Purchases of property and equipment
Note receivable payments

Net cash used in investing activiti

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments on long-term debt
Payments on line-of-credit

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Cash flows from discontinued operations:
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash used in discontinued operati

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Year Ended September 30,

2006 2005
(Revised, see
Note C)
1,752,71.  $ (358,84)
1,001,51: 573,70t
47,73¢ 16,76(
- 75,99¢
79,84 -
20,94 -
47,96: -
35,55: 5,92t
68,13« -
(31,33) (9,472)
106,05! 173,60(
- 27,12(
(27,229 (179,58
(3,777 (24,88()
(155,919 975,43:
(216,42() 814,26¢
2,725,77 2,090,03
(1,497,64) (2,650,001
- 550,00(
(1,641,73) (4,242,36)
28,53¢ 34,86(
(3,110,841 (6,307,50)
560,69: 928,76:
1,863,06! 4,762,001
(1,569,19) (889,56!)
(94,889 -
759,67 4,801,19
- 200,04.
- (402,58))
- (176,089
- (378,63))
374,60: 205,08
480,33( 275,24:
854,93. $ 480,33(




Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 1,045,44. $ 695,96.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financitdsents.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
Non-cash transactions:

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Caynparchased a 9,000 square foot office building$612,739, payable with
$86,279 cash at closing and a $426,460 fifteen-geanissory note, bearing interest at 7%.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynparchased a club in New York for $7,775,000,gtdg with $2,500,000 cash
closing and a fiverear secured convertible promissory note, bearitgrést at 4%, in the amount of $5,125,000, anus#&etion costs
$150,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, 12,08@slof restricted common stock were issued as eoggbion pursuant to a consul
agreement for a total value of $27,120, and weseeid as part of the transaction costs relatecetolttb in New York.

During the year ended September 30, 2005, the Coynmarchased a club in Charlotte for $1,000,009apke with a $325,000 seveeal
secured promissory note, bearing interest at 7% 180,000 shares of stock valued at $675,000.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Caynparchased property located at 9009 Airport Bhdouston for $1,300,0C
payable with $500,000 cash at closing and 160,886€es of restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, ther sdltne New York club converted $1,925,000 of pijral from the related promissc
note into 350,000 shares of restricted common stock

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the hofde convertible debenture converted $47,96t#rest owed into 10,097 share
restricted common stock.

During the year ended September 30, 2006, the Caoynparchased a club in San Antonio for $2,900,@&g;able with $600,000 cast
closing and four promissory notes totaling $2,300,0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisstents.
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RICK’'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
September 30, 2006 and 2005

A. Nature of Business

Rick’'s Cabaret International, Inc. (the “Companyg)a Texas corporation incorporated in 1994. Then@any currently owns and opere
nightclubs that offer live adult entertainment,ta@sant, and bar operations. These nightclubscmegted in Houston, Austin and San Anto
Texas, as well as Minneapolis, Minnesota, Charldtrth Carolina, and New York, New York. The Compalso owns and operates sev
adult entertainment Internet websites. The Compaagtporate offices are located in Houston, Texas.

B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

A summary of the Company’significant accounting policies consistently &ublin the preparation of the accompanying conatdid financie
statements follows:

Basis of Accounting

The accounts are maintained and the consolidateahdial statements have been prepared using theahdmsis of accounting in accorda
with accounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tbeoants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Sigant intercompany accounts
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requ
management to make estimates and assumptionsfibetteertain reported amounts in the financiatesteents and accompanying notes. Ac
results could differ from these estimates and apsioms.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investmenith a maturity of three months or less when pasgd to be cash equivalents.
September 30, 2006 and 2005, the Company had rfoisuestments. The Company maintains deposits pilyria one financial institutior
which may at times exceed amounts covered by inserarovided by the U.S. Federal Deposit Insur&@mgporation (“FDIC”).At Septembe
30, 2006 and 2005, the uninsured portion of thegmsits approximated $54,000 and $27,000, resgdetiVhe Company has not incurred
losses related to its cash on deposit with findniesitutions.
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts receivable trade is primarily comprisedctédit card charges, which are generally convettedash in two to five days afte
purchase is made. The Company’s accounts receio#tide is comprised of employee advances and otisrellaneous receivables. The long-
term portion of notes receivable are included imeotassets in the accompanying consolidated bakireets. The Company recognizes inti
income on notes receivable based on the termsedigheement and based upon managesentluation that the notes receivable and ini
income will be collected. The Company recognizdsvadnces for doubtful accounts or notes when, bamednanagement judgme
circumstances indicate that accounts or notesvalk will not be collected. The $70,000 due froaufius Entertainment as of Septembe
2006 and 2005 was collateralized by 3,000,000 shafeTaurus Entertainment (now known as "Bluestaalth, Inc."). The Compal
foreclosed on the collateralized shares in Aug08i62 As such, the Company presently owns the slarédas the ability to sell them in
open market. As of September 30, 2006, the valubeoEhares totals approximately $150,000. As theuat due has been fully collaterali
since the note receivable agreement was enterethardompany believes such collateral will fullyisfy such amount due, no allowance
been provided nor is deemed necessary as of Septe3@h 2006 and 2005. The Company intends to aehéelectibility either throug
repurchase of the shares by Bluestar Health, inloy gelling the shares in the open market orpnivate transaction.

Marketable Securities

Marketable securities at September 30, 2006 ané 208sist of common stock. Statement of Financiedointing Standards (“SFASNo.
115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8iecurities requires certain investments be recorded awédire or amortized co
The appropriate classification of the investmentsniarketable equity is determined at the time atpase and revaluated at each balal
sheet date. As of September 30, 2006 and 2005 dahgpany’s marketable securities were classifiedvaslable-forsale, which are carried
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses reggbas other comprehensive income within the stddeing’ equity section of the accompany
consolidated balance sheets. The cost of marketahléy securities sold is determined on a spedifemtification basis. The fair value
marketable equity securities is based on quotedehgrices. There has been no realized gains eesoelated to marketable securities fo
year ended September 30, 2006. Marketable secuhi¢ilel at September 30, 2006 and 2005 have a asist &if approximately $13,00

Inventories

Inventories include alcoholic beverages, food, @wmpany merchandise. Inventories are carried alawer of cost, average cost, wh
approximates actual cost determined on a firstiist-out (“FIFO”) basis, or market.
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Prowsior depreciation and amortization are made ustrgjghtline rates over the estima
useful lives of the related assets and the shofteiseful lives or terms of the applicable leasasléasehold improvements. Buildings h
estimated useful lives ranging from 31 to 40 yekrsniture, equipment and leasehold improvements lestimated useful lives between
and ten years. Expenditures for major renewalsbatietrments that extend the useful lives are daggth Expenditures for normal maintena
and repairs are expensed as incurred. The costsetsasold or abandoned and the related accumwefgéciation are eliminated from
accounts and any gains or losses are chargedditeztén the accompanying statement of operatidriseorespective period.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. X&8odwill and Other Intangibles Assetahich addresses the accounting for goodwill atiabi

intangible assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill emtangible assets with indefinite lives are nogenamortized, but reviewed on an an

basis for impairment. The Company adopted SFASIM&. effective October 1, 2001. The Companghnual evaluation was performed &

September 30, 2006, based on a projected discoeattdflow method using a discount rate determlmechanagement to be commenst

with the risk inherent in the current business nhodlee Company determined that the goodwill relatethe acquisition of Bobbg'Novelty
Inc. was impaired and charged $79,841 against tpgraxpenses. All of the Compasygoodwill and intangible assets relate to the taigh
segment. Definite lived intangible assets are ameaton a straight-line basis over their estimdivess. Fully amortized assets are writteffi-
against accumulated amortization.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from the sale ohalic beverages, food and merchandise and sergicé®e point-ofsale upon receipt
cash, check, or credit card charge.

The Company recognizes revenue for VIP membersinipsccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin No.4l(Revenue Recognitiofy
deferring and recognizing over the estimated mesftigerusage period. Management estimates that thghted average useful lives
memberships are 12 and 24 months for annual agtidié memberships, respectively. The Company doetrack membership usage by t
of membership, however it believes these livesappropriate and conservative, based on managesnkmbwledge of its client base ¢
membership usage at the clubs.

The Company recognizes Internet revenue from mygrgthbscriptions to its online entertainment sitdgem notification of a new or existi
subscription and its related fee are received ftbenthird party hosting company or from the crexditd company, usually two to three ¢
after the transaction has occurred. The monthlyiderot refundable. The Compamgcognizes Internet auction revenue when paymu
received from the credit card as revenues are emingd estimable nor collection deemed probable farithat point.
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B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued
Advertising and Marketing

Advertising and marketing expenses are primarilyngnsed of costs related to public advertisemeni$ giveaways, which are used
promotional purposes. Advertising and marketing emges are expensed as incurred and are includeaperating expenses in -
accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes are determined using thditiamethod in accordance with SFAS No. 1@&counting for Income TaxePeferred ta
assets and liabilities are recognized for the futax consequences attributable to differencesdsivthe financial statement carrying amao
of existing assets and liabilities and their resipedax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabiltfesmeasured using enacted tax rates expec
apply to taxable income in the years in which thtesaporary differences are expected to be recoverestttied. The effect on deferred
assets and liabilities of a change in tax rategi®gnized in income in the period that includes ¢imactment date. In addition, a value
allowance is established to reduce any deferrecasmet for which it is determined that it is makeely than not that some portion of
deferred tax asset will not be realized.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income in acoosdavith the provisions of SFAS No. 13Bgporting Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income amsdésses) on available-fegele marketable securities and is presented indhsolidate
statements of changes in stockholders’ equity.

Earnings Per Common Share

The Company computes earnings per share in acamdeith SFAS No. 128&arnings Per Share SFAS No. 128 provides for the calcula
of basic and diluted earnings per share. Basidmgsrper share includes no dilution and is compubtedividing income available to comrr
stockholders by the weighted average number of comshares outstanding for the period. Diluted em®iper share reflect the poter
dilution of securities that could share in the @aga of the Company.

Potential common stock shares consist of shardsnthg arise from outstanding dilutive common stegderants (the number of which

computed using the “treasury stock method”) andnfreutstanding convertible debentures (the numbewtd€h is computed using thef
converted method”). Diluted EPS considers the pgakdilution that could occur if the Compasybutstanding common stock warrants

convertible debentures were converted into comntooksthat then shared in the Compangarnings (as adjusted for interest expense

would no longer occur if the debentures were caeddr




Table of Content

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued

Net earnings applicable to common stock and theghted - average number of shares used for basic and dilegedings per she
computations are summarized in the table thatvialo

2006 2005

Basic earnings (loss) per share:

Net earnings (loss) applicable to common stockhrslde $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149

Average number of common shares outstanding 4,640,49! 3,937,56!
Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.3t $ (0.05)
Diluted earnings per share:

Net earnings (loss) for diluted EPS computation $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149
Average number of common shares outstanding:

Common shares outstanding 4,640,49! 3,937,56!

Potential dilutive shares resulting from exercisavarrants and options (1) 425,46:

Potential dilutive shares resulting from conversiéraebentures (2)
Total average number of common shares outstandied for dilution 5,065,96; 3,937,56'
Diluted earnings per share $ 03 % (0.05)

() All outstanding warrants and options were coesed for the EPS computation.

(2) Convertible debentures (principal and accrugdrest) outstanding at September 30, 2006 and ffi@bng $2,502,633 and $660,0
respectively, were convertible into common stocla girice of $4.75 and $6.55 per share in 2006 &d0$per share in 2005, but none v
dilutive in 2006 or 2005 (based on average balanoéestanding).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

In accordance with the reporting requirements oASHNo. 107,Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instrunten the Compar
calculates the fair value of its assets and litdedi whichqualify as financial instruments under this statetrend includes this additior
information in the notes to consolidated financiéhtements when the fair value is different thaa tarrying value of these financ
instruments. The estimated fair value of accouetgivable, accounts payable and accrued liabikitgsoximate their carrying amounts du
the relatively short maturity of these instrumentie carrying value of short and loterm debt also approximates fair value since
instruments bear market rates of interest. Nortbexe instruments are held for trading purposes.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - aatinued

Stock Options

At September 30, 2006, the Company has stock aptaitstanding, which are described more fully irteNild. The Company accounts for
stock options under the recognition and measureprémtiples of Accounting Principles Board (“APBOpinion No. 25Accounting for Stoc
Issued to Employeeand related Interpretations. The following tablestrates the effect on net income and earningsipare if the Compal
had applied the fair value recognition provisiorfsS-AS No. 123,Accounting for Stock-Based Compensatitin stockbased employt

compensation.

The following presents pro forma net income andgterre data as if a fair value accounting methatilfe®en used to account for stdukse!

compensation:
Year Ended September 30,
2006 2005
Net income (loss), as report $ 1,752,71. $ (215,149
Less total stock-based employee compensation egpkisrmined under the fair value
based method for all awards (611,409 (549,16))
Pro forma net income (loss) $ 1,141,300 $ (764,31
Earnings (loss) per share:
Basic - as reported $ 0.3¢ $ (0.05)
Diluted - as reported $ 0.3t $ (0.05)
Basic - pro forma $ 0.2t $ (0.19)
Diluted - pro forma $ 0.2 $ (0.19)

Impact of Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In December 2003, the Financial Accounting Starsl@&dard (“FASB”) issued interpretation 46R (“FINR¥, a revision to interpretation
(“FIN 46"), Consolidation of Variable Interest Entitie§IN 46R clarifies some of the provisions of FIB d@nd exempts certain entities fron
requirements. FIN 46R was effective at the endeffirst interim period ending after March 15, 200#e adoption of FIN 46 and FIN 46R

not have a material impact on the Company’s codatgd financial statements.
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B. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - cotinued

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123Rare-Based Paymentwhich is a revision of SFAS 123\ccounting for StocBaser
Compensationand supersedes APB Opinion 2&ccounting for Stock Issued to Employee&dFAS 123R focuses primarily on shéa&se:
payments for employee services, requiring thesenpays to be recorded using a fair-value-based rdeffioe use of APB 25’intrinsic valu
method of accounting for employee stock optionstieen eliminated. As a result, the fair value otktoptions granted to employees in
future will be required to be expensed. The imgacthe results of operations of the Company willdependent on the number of opti
granted and the fair value of those options. FerGbmpany, SFAS 123R will be effective beginningdber 1, 2006.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform to the current year presentation.

C. Cash Flow Statement Revision

The Company has separately disclosed in the acawyima consolidated statements of cash flows theraijpey, investing, and financi
portions of the cash flows attributable to its disttnued operations, which in the prior year wasoreed on a combined basis in a sil
amount. As a result, the accompanying consolidesstt flow statement for fiscal 2005 has been labaterevised.

D. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

September 30,
2006 2005
Buildings and land $ 12,833,133 $ 9,531,111
Leasehold improvements 4,704,24! 4,099,66!
Furniture 1,204,75 939,55(
Equipment 2,916,68! 2,079,89!
Total property and equipment 21,658,82 16,650,22
Less accumulated depreciation 4,234.,98. 3,233,46!
Property and equipment, net $ 17,42384 $ 13,416,75

For the years ended September 30, 2006 and 208%;dmpany capitalized approximate,000 and $128,000, respectively, of intere
property and equipment in leasehold improvements.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
E. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill and intangible assets consisted of thinfahg:

September 30,
2006 2005

Indefinite useful lives:

Goodwill $ 2,774,74; $ 1,898,92

Licenses 7,730,711 7,937,63.

Amortization
Period

Definite useful lives:

Discounted leases 18 & 6 years 146,56¢ 43,02:

Non-compete agreements 5 years 440,00( 100,00(

Less accumulated amortization (61,497 (16,76()
Total goodwill and intangible assets $ 11,030,52 $ 9,962,82:

Future amortization expense related to definitediintangible assets subject to amortization ate®eiper 30, 2006 for each of the years ir
five-year period ending September 30, 2011 ande#ftar is 2007 - $106,074, 2008 - $106,074, 208206,074, 2010 - $91,074, 2011 -
$70,241, and thereafter - $45,539.

Goodwill and indefinite lived intangible assetsnpairily consist of sexually oriented business lieans New York and North Carolina, wh
were obtained as part of the acquisitions. Thesmn$ies are the result of zoning ordinances, treisaid indefinitely, subject to filing annt
renewal applications, which are done at minimatsés the Company. As cash flows are expected mtirage indefinitely, in accordance w
SFAS No. 142Goodwill and Other Intangible Assetghe licenses are determined to have indefiniefuldives. The discounted cash fl
method of income approach was used in calculatingzalue of these licenses in a business combmatio
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

F. Long-term Debt

September 30,

2006 2005
Notes payable at 9%, mature February 2 * % 1,94191 $ 2,035,30:
Notes payable at 12%, mature March 2 * 139,15 140,80:
Note payable at 9%, matures March 2! * - 289,30¢
Note payable with imputed interest at 7%, matueesidry 2006, unsecur: - 214,64¢
Notes payable at 11%, mature August 2 e 1,256,58I 1,335,33!
Notes payable at 10%, mature December 2014 anddaf015 * 2,816,661 2,868,22.
Note payable at 7%, matures October 2012, collitedhby assets of R(

Entertainment North Carolina, Inc. 290,91! 325,00(
Note payable at 7.5%, matures August 2 * 1,604,88 -
Note payable at 12%, matures March 2 * 400,00( -
Note payable at 12%, matures February Z * 200,00( -
Convertible note payable to related party at 12%tunes August 2008,

collaterized by shares of Citation Land LLC and R{@ldings, Inc. 561,90¢ 559,72(
Convertible note payable at 4%, matures May 20&lateralized by assets ¢

RCI Entertainment New York, Inc. 2,444,28: 5,042,36:
Convertible notes payable to related party at 12%ture April 2008 3 825,00( -
Convertible note payable at 10%, matures Februd®® 2unsecured 1,000,95! -
Note payable at 7%, matures December 2 * 396,47¢ 414,05
Note payable at 4.9%, matures December 2010, eddliied by an equipme 29,82¢ -
Note payable at 8.99%, matures October 2007, esdlired by a vehicl 12,16; 22,52:
Total debt 13,920,73 13,246,83
Less current portion 2,278,31 1,349,89.
Total long-term debt $ 11,642,41 $ 11,896,94

* Collateralized by real esta
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F. Long-term Debt - continued

In June, July and November 2004, the Company bedo$400,000, $100,000, and $900,000, respectifrel;y an unrelated individual at 1
rate of 11% per annum for a 10 year term. Thesmhamgs were an addition to a previous note. Dufiagal year 2006, the monthly paym
of principal and interest of the new borrowing 55334, and $3,445 for the old note. The notessaoeired by properties located at @
Andtree, Austin and at 5718 Fairdale, Houston, $eX&aie money received from this new financing wsedufor the acquisition and renova
of the New York club.

On November 15, November 17, and December 30, 26@4Company borrowed $590,000, $1,042,000, an2i7$1000, respectively, fron
financial institution at an annual interest ratel6f over a 10 year term. The monthly paymentsrioicipal and interest are $5,694, $10,(
and $12,256, respectively. The notes are securedibproperties located at 2023 Sable Lane, Sanmmt410 N. Sam Houston Pkwy. E. .
3113 Bering Drive, Houston, Texas. The money reagivom this financing was used for the acquisitiod renovation of the New York club.

In December 2004, as a part of the purchase oD@09squardeot office building, the Company obtained a fiftegear promissory noi
secured by the building, in the amount of $426 48 interest at 7%.

As part of the purchase of the North Carolina clile, Company issued 180,000 shares of the Compawyhmon stock valued at $3.75
share and entered into a seven year promissoryimtte amount of $325,000 bearing interest atr#te of 7% per annum. The note is pay
with an initial payment due November 1, 2005, déiast only for the period of time from the datectifsing until October 31, 2005, plu
principal reduction payment in the amount of $3,008ereafter, RCI Entertainment North Carolina,. Itlse Companyg subsidiary, will mak
eightythree (83) successive equal monthly payments comimgmiecember 1, 2005, of principal and interesthia amount of $4,905 ur
paid in full. The note is secured by the assefR@F Entertainment North Carolina, Inc. Pursuanthi terms of the note, on or after Noven
1, 2005, the holder shall have the right, but hetdbligation, to have the Company purchase frarhthider 4,285 shares per month, calcu
at a price per share equal to $3.75 until the hidh@e received a total of $1,000,000 from the sélhe shares less the amount of the not
the Companys election during any given month, the Company midlyer buy the monthly shares or, if the Compargcts| not to buy tt
monthly shares from the holder, then the holdeH sledl the monthly shares in the open market. Aeficiency between the amount which
holder receives from the sale of the monthly sharesthe value of the shares shall be paid by tragainy within three (3) days of the dat
sale of the monthly shares during that particulamth. The Companyg’ obligation to purchase the monthly shares from hblder sha
terminate and cease at such time as the holderebes/ed a total of $1,000,000 from the sale ofghares, less the amount of the note.
obligation was satisfied on May 11, 2006 when la#lres had been sold for more than $675,000.
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On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcooavertible debenture with a greater than 10%e$twdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 §l6dres of the Comparsycommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitat®)nThe term is for three years and interest it iL2% per annum. The debenture matur
August 1, 2008. The Company also issued 50,000cdatde warrants at $3.00 per share in relationhi® debenture. The warrants
exercisable at any time within the period beginndmgJuly 22, 2005 and expiring on July 22, 2008 Vhlue of the discount on note pay:i
was estimated to be $106,656 at the date of gsngj & Black-Scholes option-pricing model with fhkowing assumptions:

Volatility 13&%
Expected life 3 year:
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2008 dimpany recorded $35,552 and $5,925, respectigéipterest expense. The debentu
secured by the Company’s ownership in Citationd,d LC and RCI Holdings, Inc., both are wholly aze¢hsubsidiaries of the Company.

The Company has accounted for this transactionruBdeerging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.200Application of Issue No. 98-tc
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversgaiure on the note payable was estimated to b&855
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No59&edel. For the years ended September 30, 200@@0# the Company recorded $20,
and $0, respectively, of interest expense relateld value of the embedded beneficial converstature.

As a part of the purchase the New York club, thenfany obtained a $5.125 million promissory noteringasimple interest at the rate of 4.
per annum with a balloon payment at the end of yiwars. $2,000,000 of the principal amount of tt@rpssory note is convertible into she
of restricted common stock at prices ranging freh08 to $7.50 per share. As of September 2006 @08,21,925,000 and $0 of principal \
converted into 350,000 and O shares of the Compaesgtricted common stock, respectively.

On February 6, 2006, the Company issued a Conleilibbenture (the “Debenturefd an unrelated investment group for the princiah o
$1,000,950 bearing interest at the rate of 10%apeum, with a maturity date of February 1, 2009déinthe terms of the Debenture,
Company is required to make three quarterly intggagments beginning May 1, 2006. Thereafter, tben@any is required to make nine e«
quarterly principal and interest payments. At ainyetafter 366 days from the date of issuance af Erébenture, the Company has the rig
redeem the Debenture in whole or in part duringtéme of the Debenture. At the election of the koldhe holder has the right at any tim
convert all or any portion of the principal or iréet amount of the Debenture into shares of theg@oryis common stock at a rate of $4.75
share, which approximates the closing price ofGhenpany’s stock on February 6, 2006. The proceédseoDebenture was used tpayofi
certain debt and increase working capital. As gitSmber 30, 2006 and 2005, the holder had eleotedrivert $47,961 and $0, of interest
10,097 and 0 shares of the Company'’s restrictecmamstock, respectively.
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F. Long-term Debt - continued

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders, one oflwisi a greater than 10% shareholdel

a principal sum of $825,000. The term is for twangeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. A¢libetion of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitation$)@ any portion of the principal amount of theb@atures into shares of the Compangdmmo
stock at a rate of $6.55 per share, which appradthéhe closing price of the Compasystock on April 28, 2006. The debentures pro
absent shareholder approval, that the number aéshd the Compang’common stock that may be issued by the Compaagauired by th
holders upon conversion of the debentures shalleroeed 19.99% of the total number of issued andtanding shares of the Company’
common stock. $600,000 of the debentures is sedyreédde Company property located at 9009 Airport Blvd., Houst®exas. The procee
of the debentures were used for the acquisitiaiooft Ventures, Inc.

On August 24, 2006, as part of the purchase ofia it San Antonio, Texas (formerly known as “Cefdigis”), the Company obtained thi
promissory notes: a $400,000 note bearing simpkrdst at the rate of 12% per annum and maturingcivM2007, $200,000 note bear
interest at the rate of 12% per annum maturing k&yr2007, and $1,700,000 note bearing interesieatate of 7.5% with a balloon paymer
end of five years. These notes payable are setyrétk real estate.

Future maturities of long-term debt consist of filéowing:

2007 $ 2,278,31!
2008 5,017,32
2009 1,252,29
2010 662,12:
2011 1,065,90!
Thereafter 3,644,76
Total maturities of long-term debt $ 13,920,73

G. Income Taxes

Income tax expense for the years presented differa the “expected’federal income tax expense computed by applyingutg feder:
statutory rate of 34% to earnings before incomeddar the years ended September 30, as a reshk édllowing:

2006 2005
Computed expected tax expense (benefit) $ 595,92 $ (73,157
State income taxes 52,58: (6,459
Deferred tax asset valuation allowance (648,509 79,60"
Total income tax expense $ - $ -
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The significant components of the Company’s detetax assets and liabilities at September 30 afellasvs:

2006 2005
Deferred tax assets (liabilities):
Goodwill $ (329,71) $ (138,15()
Property and equipment (243,22() (254,789
Net operating losses 549,39( 949,26¢
Unrealized gain on marketable securities (3,297) (5,762)
Other 225,68: 78,66¢
Valuation allowance (198,849 (629,230
$ - 9

The Company has established a valuation allowaackilly reserve the deferred tax assets at Septerd@ge 2006 and 2005 due to
uncertainty of the timing and amounts of futureatale income. At September 30, 2006, the Companyneadperating loss carryforwards

approximately $1,485,000, which expire in 2017 tiylo 2026.

H. Stock Options

In 1995, the Company adopted the 1995 Stock Oftilam (the “1995 Plan”jor employees and directors. In August 1999, then@an)
adopted the 1999 Stock Option Plan (the “1999 Blé&dllectively, “the Plans”)The options granted under the Plans may be eitfo@ntive
stock options, or nogualified options. The Plans are administered lgyBbard of Directors or by a compensation committethe Board ¢
Directors. The Board of Directors has the exclugioever to select individuals to receive grantsestablish the terms of the options grante
each participant, provided that all options grargbdll be granted at an exercise price equal feast 85% of the fair market value of

common stock covered by the option on the grarg dat to make all determinations necessary or aliésinder the Plans.
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Following is a summary of options for the yearsesh@eptember 30:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
2006 Exercise Price 2005 Exercise Price
Outstanding at beginning of year 878,000 $ 2.47 908,00( $ 2.3¢
Granted 40,00( 6.7¢ 90,00( 2.8(
Forfeited - - (50,000 2.4¢
Exercised (190,500 2.5¢ (70,000 2.21
Outstanding at end of year 727,50 $ 2.7 878,00 $ 2.47
Exercisable at end of year 662,50( $ 2.4 583,000 $ 2.4C
Weighted-average remaining contractual life 2.54 year 2.84 year

As of September 30, 2006, the range of exercisepifior outstanding options was $1.40 -$6.75.

The Company has elected to follow APB No. 25 aralted interpretations in accounting for its emplewtock options because the altern:
fair value accounting provided for under SFAS N23,JAccounting for Stock Based Compensaticgquires the use of option valuation mo
that were not developed for use in valuing emplcsteek options. See footnote B for related disalesu

Under APB No. 25, no compensation expense is reconhen the exercise price of the Compargmployee stock option equals the fair v
of the underlying stock on the date of grant. Congpéion equal to the intrinsic value of employeslstoptions is recorded when the exet
price of the stock option is less than the fairueabf the underlying stock on the date of granty Aesulting compensation is amortize«
expense over the remaining vesting periods of ghi®is on a straighthe basis. For the years ended September 30, 200@005, no amout
were recorded to compensation expense relateddk eptions issued to employees.

Information regarding pro forma net income is regdiby SFAS 123, and has been determined as iCtdmpany had accounted for
employee stock options under the fair value methfo8FAS No. 123. The fair value of these options watimated at the date of grant usi
Black-Scholes option-pricing model using the follogrweighted average assumptions:
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H. Stock Options - continued

2006 2005
Volatility 132% 137%
Expected lives 3 year: 3 year
Expected dividend yield - -
Risk free rates 5.0%% 4.31%

The BlackScholes option valuation model was developed far s estimating the fair value of traded optiondiich have no vestir
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additi@ption valuation models require the input ofhiygsubjective assumptions including
expected stock price volatility. Because changegshim subjective input assumptions can materiallffjecafthe fair value estimate,
management's opinion, the existing models do noéssarily provide a reliable single measure ofélirevalue of its employee stock options.

I. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases certain equipment and facilitieler operating leases, of which rent expenseappsoximately $1,150,000 and $558,
for the years ended September 30, 2006 and 20§ctvely.

Rent expense for the Compasyoperating leases, which generally have escalatintpls over the term of the lease, is recordédguthe
straightline method over the initial lease term wherebyegnal amount of rent expense is attributed to @aciod during the term of the les
regardless of when actual payments are made. Gnénés results in rent expense in excess of qgagfments during the early years of a |
and rent expense less than cash payments in #reyiears. The difference between rent expense méd) and actual rental payment
recorded as other long-term liabilities in the aiitated balance sheets.

Future minimum annual lease obligations as of $ap&z 30, 2006 are as follows:

2007 $ 974,84
2008 998,91
2009 884,11
2010 653,88:
2011 654,09:
Thereafter 7,999,66.
Total future minimum lease obligations $ 12,165,51
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Legal Matters
Sexually Oriented Business Ordinance of Houstona$e

In January 1997, the City Council of the City ofdston passed a comprehensive new Ordinance rewyldte location of and the cond
within Sexually Oriented Businesses (the “Ordindnc€&he Ordinance established new minimum distancasSbrually Oriented Busines:
may be located from schools, churches, playgrowartt$ other sexually oriented businesses. There wer@rovisions in the Ordinan
exempting previously permitted sexually orientedibasses from the effect of the new Ordinance9Bv1the Company was informed that
of its Houston locations at 3113 Bering Drive fdileo meet the requirements of the Ordinance andrdigly the renewal of its busine
license at the location was denied.

The Ordinance provided that a business which wagdea renewal of its operating permit due to clesnig distance requirements undel
Ordinance would be entitled to continue in operafar a period of time (the “Amortization Periodf)the owner were unable to recoup, by
effective date of the Ordinance, its investmenhmbusiness that was incurred through the datieeopassage and approval of the Ordinance.

The Company filed a request with the City of Houstequesting an extension of time during which apens at the north Houston faci
could continue under the Amortization Period primris of the Ordinance since the Company was unabtecoup its investment prior to -
effective date of the Ordinance. An administratiearing was held by the City of Houston to deteentire appropriate Amortization Perioc
be granted to the Company. At the Hearing, the Gompvas granted an amortization period that haedieen reached. The Company ha
right to appeal any decision of the hearing offitdethe district court in the State of Texas.

In May 1997, the City of Houston agreed to defeplementation of the Ordinance until the constitndility of the entire Ordinance w
decided by court trial. In February 1998, the Wstrict Court for the Southern District of Texddpuston Division, struck down certi
provisions of the Ordinance, including the prowisimandating a 1,500 foot distance between a cldabsahools, churches and other sext
oriented businesses, leaving intact the provisfahe 750 foot distance as it existed prior to @relinance.

The City of Houston has appealed the District Caumtlings with the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals the event that the City of Houstor
successful in the appeal, the Company could befocdmpliance and such an outcome could have aersdvmpact on the Compasyfuture
The Companys nightclub in the south Houston location has advpérmit/license that expired in December 2006e Plermits for the nor
Houston location and the Bering Drive location haxpired.

There are other provisions in the Houston, Texadif@nce, such as provisions governing the levdigbting in a sexually oriented busine
the distance between a customer and dancer wiildahcer is performing in a state of undress aadigions regarding the licensing of dan:
and club managers that were upheld by the courttwhiay be detrimental to the Companyusiness. The Company, in concert with ¢
sexually oriented businesses, are appealing thepects of the Ordinance.
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RICK’S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued

In November 2003, a three judge panel from thehRtfircuit Court of Appeals published their Opiniahich affirmed the Trial Cours ruling
regarding lighting levels, customer and dancer sgjma distances and licensing of dancers and.sta# Court of Appeals, however, did
follow the Trial Courts ruling regarding the distance from which a cludyrbe located from a church or school. The CouApgeals held th.
a distance measurement of 1,500 feet would be dpln a showing by the City of Houston that iirols that there were alternative <
available for relocating clubs could be substaatialhe case was remanded for trial on the issutbe @lternative sites.

There are other technical issues, which could aufditly bear upon the location of the clubs, whigdre not decided at the trial level during
initial phase of the case. It is anticipated thaise technical issues will be joined in the Trial@. The City has not sought to modify any of
terms of the injunction against enforcement of lxmation provision of the Ordinance.

The appeals process as it relates to the Corutings in 1998 has been exhausted. Under thadirfipbf the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals, 1
City of Houston has the burden of proof to showt,tbhader the distance measurements contained ihd®eé ordinance, there are alternate
available for relocation. The trial commenced orc&mber 4, 2006. A decision from the Trial Counhdg anticipated until some time in 20
In the event the City of Houston can meet its barded prevails at trial, we would appeal that mulifthe effect of any potential adverse ru
on our operations in Houston is unknown. An adveutieg would affect all sexually oriented businessn Houston. In that event, we wc
change our method of operations to require ourreiters to wear latex and bikini bottoms. Whilemagement believes this potential che
will not have a meaningful effect on our operatioas the effect would be to all similarly situatedsinesses, the effect is unknown.

possible an adverse ruling may allow for additiaz@hpetition in the Houston market.

Other Legal Matters

On October 6, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the $23udicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-C15656 and style
Edward Jimenez, et al v. R's Cabaret International, Inc., et al This is a wrongful death and personal injury eaa$ action against tv
individuals, based upon negligence theories, amihagthe Company and the Company’sdefendants, all of which are now subsidiarie
the Company, based upon alleged “dram shop” vaiati arising out of a tweehicle collision on August 1, 2006. The collisioccurred pric
to the Company acquiring Spiros Partners Ltd. Spirartners Ltd. owns and operates the Companyls R&an Antonio. Plaintiffs include t
parents - one of whom was driving - of the two juile decedents, one of the decedemtinor siblings and another minor child, both dfomr
were also passengers in the car that was strutkebgllegedly intoxicated defendant driver. Pldistare seeking unspecified damages for
and future physical pain and suffering, mental @tguphysical impairment, loss of companionship @odsortium, funeral and medi
expenses, property damages, and exemplary damages.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued

Management believes that the Company is not litislany of the damages and that they are coverdtidysafe harborprovision set forth i
Section 106.14 of the Texas Alcoholic Beverage Ceodech provides that certain compliant establishteeare not liable for the acts of tt
patrons. There does exist insurance coverage if®ickim, although this insurance does not covgretemplary damages awarded, nor tl
amounts beyond its limits. Management has denigdiahility for this accident and is vigorously @efding the lawsuit, which is presently
the beginning stages of the discovery processelampnary motion to dismiss two of the Company’bsidiaries having been denied.

On June 2, 2006, a lawsuit was filed in the #3Iudicial District Court of Bexar County, Texas un@ause No. 2006-0Q08592 and style
Richard P. Branson v. Spiros Partners, Ltd. dba Pleathouse Clu. This action occurred prior to the Company acqgirspiros Partners L
Spiros Partners Ltd. owns and operates the Compdrigk’s San Antonio. This was a fraud, assault, abugganfess, invasion of privacy &
slander action based upon the plaingiffillegation that the Club intentionally took adteeye of and assaulted him while he was there gn3]
2004, then subsequently was responsible for hiscimas prosecution by the Bexar County Districtoittey. Plaintiff sought unspecifi
damages for past and future physical pain and affemental anguish, physical disability, finaréigury and exemplary damages.

Management does not believe that it is liable foy af the damages. There was no insurance covdoagde acts complained of by 1
plaintiff. Management denied any liability for tieeallegations and vigorously defended the lawsit. December 13, 2006, the defendant’
motion for summary judgment (based upon the plihtiving no evidence to support any of his coriters) was granted in full. The plain
has 30 days to appeal.

On April 7, 2004, a lawsuit was filed in the 8Qudicial District Court of Harris County, Texasylstl Cause No. 2004-1851Gharity Rene
Stevens, et al. vs. Lazaro Ernesto Alfonso, effais is a wrongful death and personal injury@etagainst two individuals based on negligt
theories and five entertainment establishmentsidicf the Company based on alleged “dram shopatimis arising from a twear collision
Plaintiffs have also sued Ford Motor Company uraléheory of products liability. Plaintiffs includée children of the decedents, a m
passenger and the mothers of the decedents. Btamte seeking unspecified damages including glaygain and suffering, mental angu
pecuniary loss, past and future loss of companipnahd consortium, loss of mental and intellectfiaiction, past and future physi
impairment, reduction in earning capacity, increlsducation costs and expenses including funerhheedical costs. Subsequent to fiscal
end, on December 11, 2006 (subject to cosrapproval), the case was settled, which the Coynpeoorded as other expense in the Septe
30, 2006 statement of operations.

One of the Company’s locations is currently beingestigated by the Equal Employment Opportunity @ossion (“EEOC”)as the result «
two (2) complaints which were filed with the EEOE former employees. The complaints are that malpleyees were used to replace fer
employees in certain positions at the particulatbclocation. The Company has provided the EEOC whth materials and informati
requested. The Company has fully cooperated wéhrthestigation. A finding by the EEOC is not aigated until 2007.
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I. Commitments and Contingencies - continued

For all the above legal matters, no contingentrieseas liabilities have been recorded in the apamying balance sheets as such pote
losses are not deemed probable or estimable, ththerthe case discussed as settled on Decemb20d4.,

J. Line-of-credit

At September 30, 2005, the Company had availal®4888 unsecured line-ofedit with a bank. Interest was payable monthlytioe
outstanding balance at a floating rate of primes @i5% (8.25% at September 30, 2005). During figeal 2006, the line-afredit was paid o
and was not renewed.

K. Segment Information

The following information is presented in accordanwith SFAS No. 131Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise anct&
Information. The Company is engaged in adult night clubs andt ashiertainment websites (“Internet”yhe Company has identified st
segments based on management responsibility anghthee of the Compang’products, services and costs. There are no rditmctions i
geographical areas served as all operations atheirJnited States. The Company measures segmefitt ffoss) as income (loss) frc
operations. Total assets are those assets codtylleach reportable segment.
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RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

K. Segment Information - continued

The following table sets forth certain informatiabout each segment’s financial information foryear ended September 30:

Business segment sales:
Night clubs
Internet
Discontinued operations

Business segment operating income:
Night clubs
Internet
General corporate
Discontinued operations

Business segment capital expenditures:
Night clubs
Internet
General corporate
Discontinued operations

Business segment depreciation and amortization:

Night clubs

Internet

General corporate
Discontinued operations

Business segment assets:
Night clubs
Internet
General corporate
Discontinued operations

-27

2006 2005
23,683,62 14,708,15
803,58 788,51
- (672,26%)
24,487,21 14,824,40
5,321,093 2,283,53!
130,51 114,50(
(2,461,06) (2,098,95)
2,991,38, 299,08(
3,590,91 4,763,061
7,35¢ 58,15:
1,478,46! 516,501
(28,697
5,076,73 5,309,02!
875,34: 455,69
32,92( 34,23:
140,98 122,27
- (21,73
1,049,24 590,46(
23,670,61 19,037,10
112,09: 99,14¢
6,820,16! 5,892,76
30,602,87 25,029,01
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
L. Common Stock

On October 11, 2005, 10,000 stock options wereoisast by one of the Compamsydirectors for proceeds of $21,300. In Januan626@,00!
stock options were exercised by the Comparmyhployees for proceeds of $138,240 and in Fep2@06, 10,000 stock options were exerc
by one of the Company'’s directors for $25,400. AB®,000 shares of the Company’s common stock s@lteto a noremployee for $75,0(
in January 2006. In March 2006, a nemployee exercised 25,000 stock options for $64A&8the seller of the New York club conve
$675,000 of principal from the related promissopteninto 150,000 shares of restricted common stbtldpril 2006, the Company issu
160,000 shares of common stock valued at $800,08€upnt to the purchase of a building located 899irport Blvd., Houston, Texas. T
seller of the New York club converted $900,000 whgipal from the related promissory note into T8 shares of restricted common stoc
April and May 2006. During the months of May anad2006, 27,500 stock options were exercised by tmpanys employees and direct
for proceeds of $63,981. On June 8, 2006, the Capnpaued 4,829 shares of common stock for $22i/@88est owed. In July 2006, 4,000 .
10,000 stock options were exercised by an emplapeea director of the Company for proceeds of 8 #hd $28,000, respectively. Also,
seller of the New York club converted $350,000 whgipal from the related promissory note into B@&hares of restricted common stock
August 1, 2006, the Company issued 5,268 share®pmimon stock for $25,023 interest owed. In Augu¥6 29,000 stock options wi
exercised by two employees of the Company for mdseof $72,210. In September 2006, 25,000 stodbrmpivere exercised by one of
Company’s employees for proceeds of $62,250.

M. Related Party Transactions

In May 2002, the Company loaned $100,000 to Eriedzen, Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Tlenis unsecured, bears intere:
11% and is amortized over a period of ten years. Aidte contains a provision that in the event Mingan leaves the Company for any re¢
the note immediately becomes due and payable linTiaé balance of the note was approximately $@&@d $79,000 at September 30, 2
and 2005, respectively, and is included in otheetssin the accompanying consolidated balancesheet

On July 22, 2005, the Company entered into a sdcoomvertible debenture with a greater than 10%e$twdder for a principal sum
$660,000. The debenture is convertible into 220 §lodres of the Comparsycommon stock at a conversion price of $3.00 paresat th
option of the holder (subject to certain limitat®)nThe term is for three years and interest it iL2% per annum. The debenture matur
August 1, 2008. The Company also issued 50,000ckdatde warrants at $3.00 per share in relationhi® debenture. The warrants
exercisable at any time within the period beginndmgJuly 22, 2005 and expiring on July 22, 2008 Vhlue of the discount on note pay:
was estimated to be $106,656 at the date of gsing & Black-Scholes option-pricing model with fhkowing assumptions:

Volatility 13¢%
Expected life 3 year
Expected dividend yield -
Risk free rate 4.31%

For the year ended September 30, 2006 and 2008 dimpany recorded $35,552 and $5,925, respectigéipterest expense. The debentu
secured by the Company’s ownership in Citationd,d LC and RCI Holdings, Inc., both are wholly azehsubsidiaries of the Company.




Table of Content

RICK'S CABARET INTERNATIONAL, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

M. Related Party Transactions - continued

The Company has accounted for this transactionruBdeerging Issues task Force (“EITF”) Issue No.20QApplication of Issue No. 98-c
Certain Convertible InstrumentsThe value of the embedded beneficial conversegaiuire on the note payable was estimated to b8%5
which was calculated using the EITF Issue No59&edel. For the years ended September 30, 200@@0& the Company recorded $20,
and $0, respectively, of interest expense relateth¢ value of the embedded beneficial conversemiure. The shares of Common S
underlying the principal amount of the Debenturel @ime Warrants had piggyback registration rightd Became registered with SEC
September 1, 2005.

On April 28, 2006, the Company entered into conbkrtdebentures with three shareholders, one oflwisi a greater than 10% shareholdel

a principal sum of $825,000. The term is for twangeand the interest rate is 12% per annum. A¢libetion of the holders, the holders have
right to convert (subject to certain limitationd)@ any portion of the principal amount of thebéatures into shares of the Compangdmmo
stock at a rate of $6.55 per share, which appradthéhe closing price of the Compasystock on April 28, 2006. The debentures pro
absent shareholder approval, that the number aéshd the Compang’common stock that may be issued by the Compaagauired by th
holders upon conversion of the debentures shalleroeed 19.99% of the total nhumber of issued andtanding shares of the Company’
common stock. $600,000 of the debentures is sedayéde Company property located at 9009 Airport Blvd., Houst®exas. The shares
Common Stock underlying the principal amount of debentures had piggyback registration rights aecewegistered with SEC in June 2(
The proceeds of the debentures were used for theésition of Joint Ventures, Inc.

N. Employee Retirement Plan

The Company sponsors a Simple IRA plan (the “Plantjich covers all of the Comparsytorporate employees. The Plan allows the corg
employees to contribute up to the maximum amoulowald by law, with the Company making a matchingitdbution of 3% of th
employees salary. Expenses related to matching contribstiorthe Plan approximated $39,000 and $28,00théoyears ended September
2006 and 2005, respectively.

O. Acquisitions and Dispositions

On September 30, 2004, the Company entered intock $urchase Agreement with an unrelated thirtypamereby the Company sold all
its 510 shares of common stock of RCI Ventures, 1oc$15,000 cash and a $235,000 note receivaddeiy interest at a rate of 6% owv
five year period. The monthly payment related fts tiote receivable is $4,453. In M2906, the note receivable was restructured intote
receivable with principal of $230,000, interestkeraf 7.5% over a ten year period. The monthly paynoé the restructured note is $2,730
As a part of the transaction, Trumps, Inc., a whollvned subsidiary of the Company, and Tantric Emises, Inc., a whollypwned subsidial
of RCI Ventures, Inc., entered into a five yearskeagreement for the property located at 5718 &lairdHouston, Texas. The Company
recorded a $163,739 deferred gain related to thisaction for the year ended September 30, 2082t gain will be recognized upon collect
of the note receivable. The deferred gain is nedtgnst the note receivable, included in otheetasa the accompanying balance sheet.
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O. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued

On January 18, 2005, the Company’s whallyned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment New York, IecNew York corporation ("RCI New York
completed the acquisition of Peregrine Enterpribes, (“Peregrine”)which operated the Paradise Club in Midtown MardmtNew York (5
West 33rd Street). Peregrine owns and operateslah entertainment cabaret located in midtown Mdtaima The cabaret club is located r
the Empire State Building and Madison Square Garded is less than 10 blocks from Times Squafée total consideration was for $7.’
million for the assets and stock of the former Ba& Club, which had operated on the site for ntloa@ a decade. The transaction consist
$2.5 million in cash and $5.125 million in a prosusy note bearing simple interest at the rate @¥per annum with a balloon payment at
end of five years and transaction costs of $150,00@ Promissory Note is payable commencing 155 ddier closing as follows: (a) |
payment of $58,333.33 per month for twenty-four)(2dnsecutive months; (b) the payment of $63,333a83wentyfour (24) consecuti\
months; (c) the payment of $68,333.33 for twelv2) (donsecutive months; and (d) a lump sum paymktiteoremaining balance to be paic
the sixtyfirst (61st) month. $2,000,000 of the principal ambof the Promissory Note is convertible into sisaof restricted common stocl
prices ranging from $4.00 to $7.50 per share. Téwtigs also entered into a Stock Pledge AgreemmhtSecurity Agreement to secure
Promissory Note. The results of operations of th @are included in the Compamsytonsolidated statement of operations from JanLa
2005.

The following information summarizes the final detéation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 150,00(
Discounted lease 43,02:
Non-compete agreement 100,00(
License 7,481,97:
Net assets acquire $ 7,775,00!

The following unaudited pro forma information pretethe results of operations as if the acquisitiad occurred as of the beginning of
immediate preceding period. Peregrine’s operatamesfor the calendar year 2004. The pro foinfiarmation is not necessarily indicative
what would have occurred had the acquisition beadaras of such periods, nor is it indicative ofifatresults of operations. The pro fo
amounts give effect to appropriate adjustmentshierfair value of the assets acquired, amortizatidntangibles and interest expense.
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O. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued

2005
Revenues $ 15,310,40
Net income (loss) from continuing operatic (638,84))
Net income (loss (495,149
Net income (loss) per she- basic $ (0.19)

On March 31, 2005, the Company completed the dad@@® of its clubs known as ‘Rick’s Souttd MBG Acquisition LLC for cash $550,0(
In connection with the sale, the Company recordgdina of $291,987. The clubbusiness was accounted for as a discontinuedtigpeunde
accounting principles generally accepted in thetéthiStates of America, and therefore, the dulg’'sults of operations and cash flows |
been removed from the Company’s consolidated resfiltontinuing operations and cash flows for taaryended September 30, 2005.

On June 10, 2005, the Company’s whallyned subsidiary, RCI Entertainment North Carolina,, a North Carolina corporation ("RCI Nc
Carolina") completed the acquisition of a 30,000asg foot nightclub in Charlotte, North CarolineheTname of the club had been chal
from ‘The Manhattan Club’ (5300 Old Pineville Road)‘Rick's Cabaret'The purchase price of the transaction was $1,000t6ugh th
issuance of 180,000 shares of restricted commark stalued at $675,000 and a seyaar promissory note of $325,000, bearing inteaés
rate of 7% per annum. The nature of the restristimm the shares of common stock are that the shemesto be registered with the SEC for re-
sale within thirty days after closing of the acdfios. The 180,000 shares were valued at $3.75share, which approximated the avel
market price within a few days before and afterahaouncement of the acquisition in accordance @it No. 99-12 Determination of th
Measurement Date for the Market Price of AcquirecBities Issued in a Purchase Business Combin: The note is secured by liens u
the assets of and hereafter acquired assets oERtettainment (North Carolina), Inc. The resultopérations of the club are included in
Company’s consolidated statement of operations frefruary 1, 2005, when the Company assumed rigdssffor the cluts operations und
a management agreement.

Pursuant to the terms of the note, on or after Niber 1, 2005, the holder shall have the right, imttthe obligation to have the Comp
purchase from the holder 4,285 shares per moniitylaged at a price per share equal to $3.75 thaiholder has received a total of $1,000
from the sale of the shares less the amount ohtite. At the Compang’ election during any given month, the Company mistyer buy th
monthly shares or, if the Company elects not to th@ymonthly shares from the holder, then the hadtiall sell the monthly shares in the ¢
market. Any deficiency between the amount whichtthiler receives from the sale of the monthly shamd the value of the shares sha
paid by the Company within three (3) days of theedd sale of the monthly shares during that palticmonth. The Company’obligation t
purchase the monthly shares from the holder shafiihate and cease at such time as the holdeebaed a total of $1,000,000 from the
of the shares, less the amount of the note.
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O. Acquisitions and Dispositions - continued
As of September 30, 2005, the 180,000 shares tfatesl common stock were classified on the codstdéid balance sheet as temporary e
in accordance with EITF Topic D-98Jassification and Measurement of Redeemable SesuriThis obligation was satisfied on May 11, 2

when all shares had been sold for more than $6@5,00

Proforma results of operations have not been peayids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

The following information summarizes the final detéation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 111,75:
Property & equipment 640,19:
Licenses 455,65t
Other assets 5,02(
Current liabilities assumed (212,620
Net assets acquire $ 1,000,00t

On July 12, 2005, the Company organized RCI Da8rgvices, Inc. (“RCI Dating”), which operates asaattlition to the Compang’interne
operations, to acquire CouplesClick.net from Cligkkbh LLC (“ClickMatch"). The Company transferred its ownepsim CouplesTouch.co
to RCI Dating and as a result of the transactienGompany obtained an 85% interest in RCI Datirt) e other 15% owned by ClickMatch.

On April 5, 2006, the Company’wholly owned subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. coetpd the acquisition of real property located &@9
Airport Blvd., Houston, Texas where the Companyrenily operates Rick’ Sports Cabaret (previously Hummers Sports Barn@rd Soutt
clubs). Pursuant to the terms of the agreementCtmpany paid a total purchase price of $1,300,@80@h consisted of $500,000 in cash
160,000 shares of the Compasyestricted common stock. The purchase price (8CR1000 was determined to be the fair value ofréz
property based on the nature of the restrictionthefshares issued in the transaction. As patetransaction, the Company agreed to 1
registration statement for the resale of suchiotett common stock within 45 days after the closifige registration statement became effe
on June 23, 2006. Additionally, nine months after filing of the registration statement, the Sellas the right, but not the obligation, to h
the Company buy the shares at a price of $5.08zme at a rate of no more than 10,000 shares @ethrantil such time as the Seller rece
a total of $800,000 from the sale of such shar#erratively, the Seller has the option to selllssbares in the open market. As of Septe
30, 2006, the 160,000 shares of restricted comntmok svere classified on the consolidated balaneetshs temporary equity in accorde
with EITF Topic D-98,Classification and Measurement of Redeemable SesiriThe transaction was the result of arersgth negotiatior
between the parties.

On May 9, 2006, the Company purchased Joint Vestune., an operator of an adult nightclub in Sadtiuston, Texas, formerly known
Dreamers Cabaret & Sports Bar located at 802 HouBlwd. The purchase price of $840,000 was paidctash.In anticipation of thi
acquisition, on April 28, 2006, the Company borrdv825,000 under convertible debentui@se club, located in a Houston suburb, has
converted to an XTC Cabaret.
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The following information summarizes the final detéation of the purchase price allocation:

Current assets $ 7,72(
Property & equipment 390,00(
Discounted lease 103,54¢
Non-compete agreement 90,00(
License 248,73:
Net assets acquire $ 840,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On July 7, 2006, the Company entered into a stockh@ase agreement to acquire Texas Sé&l, Inc., agesrporation, for $125,000, consis
of $55,000 paid in cash at closing and $70,000fimeayear note payable bearing interest at aoh#® per annum. As of September 30, 2
the note has been fully paid. Texas S&I, Inc. owaad operated Club Exotica in San Antonio. The Camyrthas converted this club intGluk
Onyx--San Antonio”.

The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Other assets $ 7,50(
Property & equipment 117,50(
Net assets acquire $ 125,00(

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

On August 24, 2006, the Compasysubsidiary, RCI Debit Services, Inc., acquire898f the ownership interest in an adult entertaint
cabaret known as “Centerfoldé3cated at 5418 Brewster Street, San Antonio, TeRaslitionally, under the terms of the transactitme
Companys subsidiary, RCI Holdings, Inc. acquired 100%ha interest in the improved real property upon Whienterfolds is located. T
total purchase price for the business and realgotppvas $2,900,000. Under terms of the agreentleatCompany paid the owners of the
and property $600,000 in cash at the time of ctpsind signed promissory notes for the remainingrizad. In addition, certain members of
current ownership structure entered into five-ya@arenants not to compete with the Company.
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The following information summarizes the final deténation of the purchase price allocation.

Current assets $ 22,50(
Property & equipment 2,127,50!
Non-compete agreements 250,00(
Goodwill 500,00(
Net assets acquire $ 2,900,00!

Proforma results of operations have not been peakids the amounts were not deemed material toahsolidated financial statements.
transaction follows the Company’s growth strategy.

P. Subsequent Events

On October 4, 2006, the seller of the New York atebverted $75,000 of principal from the relatedmissory note into 10,000 shares of
Company’s common stock.

On October 11, 2006, the Company sold its propeitieWise County for $165,000, which was the vadfighe properties included in {
Company’s balance sheet at September 30, 2006rafterding an impairment charge of $68,134 on Sepéz 2006.

On October 12, 2006, the Company purchased a 518&rmsWip interest of Playmates Gentlense@lub LLC, an operator of an adult nightc
in Austin, Texas. The club is located at 8110 Spiale Street. The purchase price of $1,533,750paaks$500,000 cash at closing and 125
shares of the Company’s restricted common stodkedaat $8.27 per share in accordance with EITA®9Fhe club has been converted
Rick’s Austin. As part of the agreement, twelve montfterghe closing date, the seller has the right, et the obligation, to have 1
Company buy the shares at a price of $8.00 pee<itaa rate of no more than 5,000 shares per morthsuch time as the seller receive
total of $1,000,000 from the sale of such shardteraatively, the seller has the option to selllssbares in the open market. The transa
was the result of arms-length negotiations betvikerparties.

In October and November 2006, 137,500 stock optizere exercised by employees of the Company fat pybceeds of $350,531.

In November 2006, a holder of a convertible debentonverted $25,023 of interest owed into 5,268reh of the Company’restricte
common stock.
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P. Subsequent Events - continued

On November 9, 2006, the Company entered into atibleedebentures with three shareholders for agyal sum of $600,000. The term is
two years and the interest rate is 12% per annuithé election of the holders, the holders haverigkt to convert (subject to certi
limitations) all or any portion of the principal aomt of the debenture into shares of the Compaogimmon stock at a rate of $7.50 per s
which was higher than the closing price of the Canys stock on November 9, 2006. The debenture proyvalesent shareholder appro
that the number of shares of the Compargdmmon stock that may be issued by the Compaigauired by the holders upon conversic
the debenture shall not exceed 19.99% of the tatailber of issued and outstanding shares of the @oygcommon stock. The proceed:
the debentures were used for the acquisition dfté wnership interest of Playmates Gentlemen’s Club.

On December 5, 2006, the Company foreclosed osidengtial house due to ng@ayment of a note receivable to an unrelated thandy. The
approximate balance of the note receivable wasO®B5with property taxes owed of approximately $20,0The house has an approxin
appraised value of $90,000. As the amount duelisvsel to be collateralized no allowance has beaewiged nor is deemed necessary ¢
September 30, 2006.

On December 14, 2006, the Company converted it Rkatub in Charlotte, North Carolina into Club OnyCharlotte.
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